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CHAPTER ONE:  WHY SCIENTOLOGISTS SHOULD READ THIS BOOK
 
    
 
   The road out is marked by simplicity and direct observation.  – L. Ron Hubbard
 
    
 
   L. Ron Hubbard once took the time to very clearly delineate how it is that Scientology differs from other philosophies. In a lecture of 23 June, 1960, entitled The Differences between Scientology and Other Philosophies, he narrowed it down to one major characteristic which set Scientology apart more clearly than any other. He said:
 
   Now, there are a tremendous number of things in Scientology that appear in a tremendous number of places. Naturally – because very, very clever, intelligent men have been thinking about life for a very, very long time, and if they didn’t dig up some answers, that was pretty stupid of them. Don’t you think so? It was inevitable that they dug up some answers. Inevitable. The only thing that’s new about Scientology is it says, “Why don’t you dig up some?”
 
   Ron went on to describe how the central practice of Scientology – auditing (also called processing, Scientology spiritual counseling) – in its pure essence was nothing more than the realization of that purpose:
 
   All that processing is, is an invitation to inspect. That with which you become familiar you can know. Now, that is one of the basic and early assumptions of Scientology. That with which you become familiar you can know.
 
   Now, one further important feature of Scientology’s methodology for assisting a person to inspect so as to know was that the person had to learn to inspect without fear:
 
   Inspection of something without fear will certainly bring you to any existing truths about that thing. Right? Inspection of something without fear. So all auditing does is release the person’s ability to inspect; and when he can inspect without fear, he can know the truth of things. And the odd part of it is that once you know the truth of something, it can’t bite. Now, that’s an added bonus. 
 
   Ron continued by summing up, in effect, the total action of a Scientologist, describing what it is that a Scientologist does:
 
   The only thing that you can do for anybody in the final analysis is get him to inspect his own life and his own environment. And if he inspects his own life and his own environment in any kind of orderly way, and… You know, not running away every time: he looks over here and then runs away, and then looks over here, and two years later gets courage enough to look over here again. No, you can help him out by – every time he runs away, you say, “Look.” 
 
   Ron warns that only listening, without also looking to verify, can be a very hazardous occupation:
 
   There’s tremendous, almost unlimited methods of self-deception, almost unlimited methods of delusion. Man is probably richest in the numbers of ways he can make suckers out of his fellow man with lies. Hard words, but when a man here doesn’t know what’s the truth, then what he says to the man over here certainly doesn’t relate as any truth.
 
   In the final analysis all you can get anybody to do is inspect himself, his environment, life, and find out what’s true for him. And those things that are true for him, they’ll be pretty true. And you’ll find out that if he does it all the way, then we all agree on what’s true.
 
   All that this book attempts to bring about is a willingness on your part to look. Hopefully, it will help remove any fear that might be preventing you from inspecting yourself, your environment and life. Just as Ron advised. 
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER TWO:  IS HISTORY REPEATING ITSELF?
 
    
 
   Those who cannot remember the past are condemned to repeat it.   – George Santayana
 
    
 
   One of L. Ron Hubbard’s favorite sources for history study was Will Durant, and his several encyclopedic volumes, The Story of Civilization. Ron mentions Durant in many of his lectures and books. He even dedicated his book Science of Survival to Durant, along with 22 other philosophers and thinkers. I am reading that from my 1951 first-edition copy of Science of Survival at this moment, and there it is, right under “Credit in particular is due to:”. Will Durant is right up there along with Socrates, Voltaire, Thomas Paine, Thomas Jefferson and a number of other historical giants. Now, that brings us to our first invitation to inspect. Inspect your “Golden Age of Knowledge” edition of Science of Survival. Do you see Durant’s name on the dedication page? Do you see the name of any of the people L. Ron Hubbard originally said were due particular credit? 
 
   Since LRH felt so indebted to the 23 men he acknowledged for their help in formulating the truths of Dianetics and Scientology, I took it upon myself to read much of Durant’s history, in an effort to learn about them. Doing so gave me a much deeper appreciation and understanding of the technologies Ron developed. 
 
   In reading Durant's historical work, I was also struck by parallels between humankind’s history and the history of the Scientology movement. Some of the most profound of these similarities appeared in the events which took place during the era of the Protestant Reformation. The Reformation occurred during the 16th century, when the 1,500-year monopoly on the Christian religion was busted. Beginning some time after the death of Jesus Christ and continuing until 1517, there was only one significant Christian church: what is now known as the Catholic Church. Over those many centuries the Catholic Church became all-rich, all-powerful, and also quite political and ruthless in guarding its worldly wealth. In the process it also became, by definition, the antithesis of what Jesus Christ stood for. Such principles, for example, as “the meek shall inherit the earth” and “the chance of a rich man entering the Kingdom of God is less than that of a camel passing through the eye of a needle.” 
 
   Reading that history reminded me of something LRH had said in a series of lectures he considered – to the day he died – to be the most complete and accurate dissertation on the subject of OT (Operating Thetan, the highest level of spiritual attainment in Scientology): The Philadelphia Doctorate Course, or PDC.
 
   Let's take the subject of Scientology and let's see if there's any logic involved with it at all. There isn't a mathematics that can embrace the subject of Scientology, because it is an invented mathematics. It's an invented mathematics that accepts gradient scales and "absolutes are unattainable." And it is a method of thinking about things. And it is just as true as it is workable. And no truer. And is not, in itself, an arbitrary, fascistic police force to make sure that we all think right thoughts. It's a servant of the mind, and servo-mechanism of the mind. It is not a master of the mind. Scientology will decline and become useless to man on the day when it becomes the master of thinking. Don't think it won't do that. It has every capability of doing that. 
 
   Contained in the knowable, workable portions before your eyes there are methods of controlling human beings and thetans (spiritual beings) which have never before been dreamed of in this universe. Control mechanisms of such awesome and solid proportions that if the remedies were not so much easier to apply, one would be appalled at the dangerousness to beingness that exists in Scientology.
 
   Fortunately, it was intelligently invented, and I say that without any possible bow; I say that because part of its logic was: the remedy should exist before the bullet. 
 
   ...
 
   So anybody that knows the remedy of this subject, anybody that knows these techniques, is himself actually under a certain responsibility – that's to make sure that he doesn't remain a sole proprietor. That's all it takes, just don't remain a sole proprietor. Don't ever think that a monopoly of this subject is a safe thing to have. It's not safe. It's not safe for Man; it's not safe for this universe. This universe has long been looking for new ways to make slaves. Well, we've got some new ways to make slaves here. Let's see that none are made.  – L. Ron Hubbard   Formative States of Scientology – Definition of Logic
 
   It made me think that perhaps Ron was thinking of that very history of the Christian religion and the Protestant Reformation, which clearly he had read about in Durant’s books. After all, the medieval Catholic Church had made reading the bible illegal. It used the promise of salvation as a tool to enslave. It tortured and killed those who dared to disagree, or had the temerity to inspect for themselves. And after 15 centuries of escalating abuse and control, the only thing that worked to reverse that state of affairs was the busting of the monopoly. The Protestant Reformation was in essence just that a – break-up of the monopoly on Christianity. Its two critical aspects were (a) freeing the material of Christianity to everyone through translation, publication and wide distribution of the Holy Bible, and the consequent recognition that people did not need a vicious, bureaucratic and corrupt institution between them and God, and (b) the formation of hundreds of Christian churches, based on the principles contained in Christ’s teachings.
 
   Ron was so adamant about the need for people to remember the remedy of preventing a monopoly that he accentuated the words quoted above, with these words in the same lecture:
 
   It's a very simple remedy. And that's just make sure the remedy is passed along. That's all. Don't hoard it. Don't hold it. And if you ever do use any black Dianetics (using Dianetics and Scientology in reverse to control and harm), use it on the guy who pulled Scientology out of sight and made it so it wasn't available. Because he's the boy who would be electing himself “the new order.” We don't need any more new orders – all those orders as far as I'm concerned have been filled.
 
   Now, this brings us to our next inspection exercise. I would prefer that you did this as soon as you possibly can, and not read much more here before you do so. I want you to demonstrate for yourself that what you are reading comes with a measure of credibility. Find a set of the PDC lecture transcripts published by the church after the year 2000. Any post-2000 edition will do. Look up the lecture from which the LRH quotes above derive: Formative States of Scientology – Definition of Logic. Look in particular for the final paragraph I have quoted above, which immediately follows the larger quote I copied from the transcript, a bit earlier in this chapter. It certainly ought to be there, right? It’s definitely right here in the transcript in front of me. But my transcript and the corresponding spoken words of LRH were published and copyrighted in 1982, while Ron was still alive. And, contrary to later representations by another, Ron did check things that were published in his name. 
 
   I know what you will find, or have already found, when you do the two inspection exercises suggested in this chapter. You will find that in both cases that L. Ron Hubbard’s written and spoken words have been deleted from material that is being sold to the public. 
 
   Could it be that some person or group wants you to study only some things L. Ron Hubbard spoke and wrote about Scientology and not others?  Is someone attempting to alter Scientology history? 
 
   If so, what could possibly be the motivation?   
 
   Now, if this is all too unnerving and uncomfortable, you are perfectly free to drop this book right now and try real hard to forget you ever picked it up. 
 
   Or, you can do as Ron advised and brace yourself up to inspect the truth without fear. 
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER THREE:  THE CREED OF THE CHURCH OF SCIENTOLOGY
 
    
 
   As for the men in power, they are so anxious to establish the myth of infallibility that they do their utmost to ignore truth.   – Boris Pasternak
 
    
 
   In reading Durant’s account of the Reformation, I recognized a number of parallels between that historic period and what Scientologists are witnessing, and increasingly participating in, today. 
 
   What prompted Martin Luther to denounce the Roman Catholic Curia as the “Synagogue of Satan” and the Pope as the “Antichrist,” and thus spark the 16th century social revolution that put Christianity back into the hands of common folk? At bottom, it was the recognition that no matter how sincerely and intensely one followed the rituals created by the church, rather than following Christ, salvation was not to be had. That led to an examination of how the church had corrupted the teachings of Christ. The discovery of that corruption led to the understanding of the simplicity of the road to spiritual freedom that was Christianity (and not the church).
 
   Luther’s publication of the church’s abusive practices – practices which conflicted with the teachings of the Bible – was the first step on the path toward liberating Christianity and making it available to all.
 
   The most widespread abuse, affecting virtually every member of the church, was the practice of selling papal indulgences. An indulgence was an official pardoning of a person’s sins, so that the person was guaranteed passage to Heaven in the afterlife. This papal pass out of Purgatory and into Heaven was not free. Regardless of how sinful a fellow might have been and no matter how many others he may have oppressed along the way, his salvation could be assured so long as he paid enough money to the church. Conversely, if a person did not contribute a substantial percentage of his or her wealth, that person was condemned to unending torment in hell.
 
   The reigning pope of Luther’s time, Leo X, was by many accounts a rather self-indulgent character. He led a life of luxury at his international headquarters in Rome. Leo X sought to deflect attention from his material excesses by building cathedrals that would overwhelm the senses of common folk, making them more respectful and more subservient to their great father in Rome. 
 
   Leo sought to enhance his demigod status by dazzling the masses with spectacular architectural wonders. His dearest project was the building of the most remarkable structure in world history, Saint Peter’s basilica in Rome. Fundraising for cathedral construction became the number-one priority of the entire network of Catholic priests, from the top to the bottom of the priestly hierarchy. The chief fundraiser for the Saint Peter’s project was a fellow by the name of Johann Tetzel. Leo X granted Tetzel unlimited powers to procure the millions required, by any means necessary. Tetzel responded by relying chiefly on the practice of selling indulgences. He offered complete absolution for any and all sins committed, provided one paid enough money. By 1517, the lust for ever more funds to complete the miracle cathedral had hit a fever pitch. Here is the text of the certificate that was bestowed on high-roller contributors by Tetzel:
 
   May our Lord Jesus Christ have mercy on thee, and absolve thee by the merits of His most holy Passion. And I, by His authority, that of his most blessed Apostles Peter and Paul, and of the most holy Pope, granted and committed to me in these parts, do absolve thee,  first from all ecclesiastical censures, in whatever manner they may have been incurred, and then from all thy sins, transgressions, and excesses, how enormous soever they may be...so that when you die the gates of punishment shall be shut, and the gates of paradise of delight shall be opened...
 
   The ultimate status in the church, absolution from transgressions and official acceptance into Heaven, was bestowed in a written document – provided that the church was paid enough money. All ecclesiastical officers of the church, all local priests and all members of the hierarchy were required to recognize and honor such paid-for statuses. In others word, in Scientology parlance, such contributors were granted Ethics protection: protection from the usual disciplines or penalties a parishioner would be subject to under the policies governing the organization’s Ethics authorities. 
 
   But while indulgences (and the vast financial irregularities associated with them) became the primary issue of the Protestant Reformation as far as mainline historians tell it, there was another, more subtle and yet more intolerable abuse, which cut to the quick with common Christians. This was the undermining of Christianity’s founder, the Lord Jesus Christ himself. This undermining effect was present in, but not limited to, the selling of indulgences.     
 
   As we all know, Jesus condemned the idea that one’s degree of material wealth had any bearing whatsoever on one’s true worth. Quite the contrary, the Bible (and other surviving historical accounts) depict Jesus as blessing the poor and recognizing material greed as the root of all evil. Jesus condemned the high priests of his time and their ornate temples. 
 
   In order to so blatantly defy the intention and philosophy of the church’s founder, the corrupt popes had to raise their own standing and lower that of their founder. They did so covertly at first, and later more overtly.  According to Durant, Pope Leo X authorized fundraiser-in-chief Tetzel to sink to these depths in the pursuit of money: 
 
   ...that even sins men were intending to commit would be forgiven. The pope, he said, had more power than all the Apostles, all the angels and saints, more even than the Virgin Mary herself; for those were all subject to Christ, but the pope was equal to Christ. 
 
   This “equality” of the pope and Christ was eventually institutionalized by what became an official Catholic doctrine known as “papal infallibility.” Infallibility held that the pope could never be wrong, and thus his measures could never be questioned or defied. The establishment of such “equality” necessarily resulted in the founder becoming, in effect, inferior to the pope. It was an inescapable consequence. If a pope was at first Christ’s equal, but then popes, over centuries, issued edicts contrary to Christ’s teachings and message – with all Catholics required to obey the “infallible” pope – then papal edicts differing from Christ’s teachings necessarily took precedence. In effect, what a pope said carried more weight than what Christ himself – the founder of the religion – had said. In the case of Christianity, where a small, reclusive, exclusive, all-powerful group (the Vatican) held a monopoly (remember Ron’s warning about that nasty word in Chapter Two), over time that group was able to make the official hierarchy of Christ operate in an anti-Christ fashion. 
 
   And thus Martin Luther wrote:  
 
   ... I freely declare that the true Antichrist is sitting in the temple of God, and is reigning in Rome – that empurpled Babylon – and that the Roman Curia is the Synagogue of Satan...
 
   Martin Luther broke the 1,500-year-old monopoly that had reversed the processes of Christ by introducing one simple idea to the Western world. It was an idea that had been suppressed through the inducement of fear by that very monopoly. Luther’s idea was that one should inspect: that one should read the best available account of Jesus Christ’s words for oneself, and then inspect oneself, one’s environment and life. One should not rely on the words of high priests who were demonstrably not practicing what Christ preached, and were continually dreaming up new ways to sell the hope of communion with Christ and God, in order to extract ever-increasing sums of money.    
 
   Martin Luther spent the rest of his life writing about Christianity – in pursuit of making it more freely accessible to as many people as possible. He did this while continually evading the grasp of the Inquisition. The Inquisition was the church’s enforcement arm for prosecution, judgment and punishment (often by burning at the stake) for the sin of heresy. “Heresy” is defined by Webster’s as: “adherence to a religious opinion contrary to church dogma.” A person accused of heresy is called a heretic. Luther was declared by the monopoly to be Earth’s number-one heretic. In Luther’s view (and most everyone’s account of history ultimately agreed), the “heretic” label was the epitome of the monopoly’s long line of hypocrisy.    
 
   Martin Luther's words in response to the allegations against him, in his Sermon on Indulgence and Grace, rang true with millions of Europeans who were keen to remove the church shackles they, and many generations of their ancestors, had been born into:
 
   If I am called a heretic by those whose purses will suffer from my truths, I care not much for their brawling; for only those say this whose dark understanding has never known the Bible.
 
   Could it be that Martin Luther and the Protestant Reformation had some measure of influence on L. Ron Hubbard’s Creed of the Church, nearly 500 years later? Look in particular at these tenets of Mr. Hubbard’s creed:
 
   WE OF THE CHURCH BELIEVE…
 
   That all men have inalienable rights to conceive, choose, assist or support their own organizations, churches and governments.
 
   That all men have inalienable rights to think freely, to talk freely, to write freely their own opinions and to counter or utter or write upon the opinions of others…
 
   …And that no agency less than God has the power to suspend or set aside these rights, overtly or covertly.
 
   The following chapters may shed more light on the full context, intent, and import of these words. 


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER FOUR:  SELLING OF INDULGENCES
 
    
 
   Callous greed grows pious very fast.  – Lillian Hellman
 
    
 
   Four hundred and ninety-five years ago Martin Luther sparked the Protestant Reformation with one seemingly innocent act. He posted what would be called his 95 Theses on the door of the Catholic church in Wittenberg, Germany for purposes of discussion. The 95 Theses were an enumerated list of abuses by the Vatican, carried out at the direction of the “infallible” pope. While many abuses were covered, the ones at first most focused upon were those connected with the practice of selling indulgences.  The idea of buying one’s way to salvation, to Luther, was the most hideous single desecration of Christ.  
 
   And here is where our reflections on history come into play with respect to Scientology. Over the past couple of decades, we find much the same culture has taken hold in the church of Scientology (hereinafter referred to as Scientology Inc. or corporate Scientology). Organized Scientology’s extensive ethics and justice apparatuses have been corrupted toward precisely the same end. Knowing history, and the potential corrupting influence of money, founder L. Ron Hubbard expressly forbade the payment of money to absolve any wrongdoing by a Scientologist. In his Policy Letter of 1 May, 1965, entitled Staff Member Reports, he stated, “A donation or fine would not be acceptable amends.”  
 
   Yet today, Scientology Inc. officers empowered to administer ethics and justice in Scientology organizations across the world routinely do, as a matter of operating policy, accept monetary donations as acceptable amends. In fact they not only accept such donations, they demand them. There is no civil or ecclesiastical crime within Scientology Inc. that cannot be forgiven and forgotten for a price.  Status among Scientologists is now measured by how much money they are able to fork over to the church.  In essence, the worth of a person is gauged by his or her wealth.   You can test this by attempting to sit in the first couple of rows at your next major Scientology Inc. event.   If you have not paid tens of thousands, or hundreds of thousands, or even millions of dollars to the International Association of Scientologists (IAS) you will be out of luck.  It does not matter how many books you have sold to the public, how many people you have introduced to Scientology, or how many hours you have audited.  Compare this state of affairs to L. Ron Hubbard’s view about measuring the worth of a person:
 
   A bank account never measured the worth of a man. His ability to help measured his worth and that's all. – The Genus of Dianetics and Scientology, 31 December 1960
 
   In the light of Ron’s views, how could such a culture arise where the value of an individual is measured by the size of his material holdings?    
 
   It did not happen overnight. It took decades after Ron’s death to institute a culture of worship to the almighty buck.  It required getting the opinion leaders in the Scientology community on board with the idea that wealth is of paramount importance.  It required the steady, increasing validation and rewarding of the anti-virtue of greed.
 
   It began in the 1980s shortly after the passing away of L. Ron Hubbard.   And it started with the family that has subsequently been promoted into unofficial royalty in the Scientology community, the Feshbach brothers, Joe, Matt and Kurt. The three were infamous stock market short-sell specialists during the era when glorification of greed was hip in America. “Short-selling” is betting, via the stock market, that a company will fail, and then profiting handsomely when it does. As the Feshbachs’ fortunes, amassed during the late ’80s, became almost legendary, the post-LRH pope of Scientology, David Miscavige did two things to wed Scientology with them. 
 
   First, Miscavige directed that the Feshbachs’ success in making money for nothing, and even assisting in the downfall of American businesses, become the primary publicized “success” story for Scientology.   For years, Scientology Inc.’s marketing and public-relations units tirelessly churned out advertising, press releases and publications connecting the Feshbachs’ success to their involvement in Scientology.
 
   Second, Miscavige invested his own money with the Feshbachs – money the Feshbachs dutifully and not-so-honestly converted into hundreds of thousands of dollars for Miscavige. Miscavige cleverly influenced several high-level members of the Scientology hierarchy to do the same, so as to avoid any internal flack over his corrupt activities. The people so corrupted included the then-Inspector General of the church (Greg Wilhere, whose first duty was to stamp out any such unethical dealings), the church’s highest scriptural authority (Ray Mithoff, at the time the Inspector General for Technology, and now Senior Case Supervisor International), and international Scientology’s highest-level manager (Watchdog Committee Chairman, Marc Yager).  
 
   In order to impress and bond with his then-newly-recruited Scientologist superstar, Tom Cruise, Miscavige encouraged him to also invest with the quick-buck brothers. With the highest officers of the hierarchy and Scientology’s most bankable star all investing with the Feshbachs, many lesser names in Scientology followed suit.
 
   In the ’90s things went south for the Feshbach brothers. Virtually all of those who had invested lost everything they had put up. But the brothers salvaged the love affair with Miscavige through one slick move. They put up, out of their own pockets, the original amounts invested by just two out of the thousands of people who had lost big on their watch. Carefully reinvesting these funds, the Feshbachs succeeded in bringing in a handsome return for these two parties. These investors were the only two (out of thousands) the Feshbachs had to make good with, in order to maintain their preferred uber-VIP status within Scientology Inc. The investors were Tom Cruise and David Miscavige. For the legions that lost their shirts, well, it was just tough luck.
 
   Fast-forward to the year 2012. The church of Scientology regularly holds public seminars on how to make lots of money, hosted by the surviving Feshbachs (one brother died in 2010). These seminars are bait-and-switch affairs where people who have come in good faith to learn how to make money serve as a captive audience for Scientology Inc. fundraisers to take money from. 
 
   In the summer of 2012, one of Scientology Inc.’s most sacred churches, aboard the motor vessel Freewinds, was the site of one of these celebrated seminars, taught by Matt Feshbach. Carefully omitted from the seminar’s promotion and content was the fact that Matt had declared bankruptcy just four years earlier, when another of the brothers’ investment pools dried up. Just how many millions the Feschbachs lost for rank-and-file Scientologists over the decades is known only to their accountants. But one thing is clear: the Feshbachs remain Scientology royalty because they keep making money for Miscavige, and because they keep themselves up near the top of the high-roller contributor status lists for all of Miscavige’s projects.  
 
   Meanwhile, another prominent Scientologist investment guru was enjoying preferred status in Miscavige’s Scientology Inc. Reid Slatkin of Santa Barbara California had been profiting handsomely by advertising investment returns of 50% per annum or better in church of Scientology circles. Even though Slatkin’s scheme seemed too good to be true, many Scientologists – and later non-Scientologists – invested big with him, hoping to grab some of that easy money. These investors included movie star Ann Archer (Fatal Attraction), and Fox News personality Greta Van Susteren. These two are representative of the hundreds of Scientologists with less prominent names who invested with Slatkin. 
 
   On several occasions, “less important” Scientologists reported Slatkin to church officials for failure to make timely dividend payments. So, in the late ’90s, in my role as Inspector General, I began to investigate Slatkin. Up to that time Slatkin had successfully fended off ethics investigations by touting the prominent Scientologists to whom he had paid huge dividends, and who had subsequently raised their own statuses with Miscavige and the church by turning over large percentages of their “winnings.” 
 
   When I reported to Miscavige that I smelled a rat and was planning to put some time into determining what Slatkin was doing with parishioners’ funds (since many had invested on the assumption that Slatkin was church sanctioned), I was immediately and sternly ordered onto other “priorities.” Two years later, Slatkin was indicted by federal officials for running a grand Ponzi scheme. Many Scientologists lost everything; and many more non-Scientologists lost everything. Miscavige and the church begrudgingly made a token payment (as compared to the millions they received from the fruits of Slatkin’s fraud) in a concurrent bankruptcy proceeding, to keep themselves out of court. Slatkin spent several years behind the iron bars of a federal penitentiary. 
 
   Worse still, one of the “more important” priorities Miscavige assigned to me, in his efforts to divert my attention from Slatkin, may have constituted one of the most morally corrupt examples of the Scientology Inc. practice of selling indulgences.   
 
   Brian Zwan was a Scientologist and a physicist with dreams of grandeur. In the late ’90s, Zwan had developed a clever means of diagnosing technical problems along lengthy fiber optic communication lines remotely. Zwan was determined to convert his discovery into unimaginable riches and unprecedented red-carpet passage to Scientology’s promise of ultimate salvation.
 
   Zwan hired a crew of seasoned Wall Street lawyers, accountants and advisors. He studied Wall Street and the dot-com boom in order to make the greatest financial killing possible. 
 
   In order to stave off any curious, ethical eyes from his Scientology church in Clearwater Florida – Scientology’s mecca (also known as Flag) – Zwan hired David Miscavige’s Scientologist twin sister Denise Miscavige Gentile to be production officer in his company, Digital Lightwave. Denise was made responsible for all matters relating to production and delivery of the new diagnostic device. Meanwhile, Brian worked out clever positionings for his company with his lawyers, accountants and PR men, all designed to create a stock-value bubble upon release of the new product.  
 
   Zwan’s dreams came true, for a while. In the late ’90s his initial public offering and early production and delivery reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission caused his stock to skyrocket. Zwan positioned his own holdings so as to net himself more than one hundred million dollars personally.   
 
   But there was one little problem. The reports to the SEC were invented and false. And there was one slightly bigger problem. A non-Scientologist Wall Street specialist employed by Digital Lightwave blew the whistle on the fraudulent production reports. 
 
   As Inspector General of Scientology, and Mr. Fix-it for David Miscavige, I was dispatched to Clearwater, Florida to (a) find out what had happened, and (b) fix it so the Miscavige name would not be plastered across news headlines. I was instructed to obtain this result by whatever means necessary. I reported every single detail of what I learned directly to David Miscavige himself – and to no one else, according to his direct order.  
 
   I interrogated Zwan, Denise Miscavige Gentile and other Scientologists involved. Zwan told a complex tale worthy of a Dostoyevsky novel, all intended to prove that Miscavige Gentile had falsely reported to him, and that he could not have known the truth of the matter.  Miscavige Gentile wove a fable just as intricate as Zwan’s, to prove it was Zwan who had suggested and manufactured the falsehoods that had been reported to the SEC. 
 
   The details uncovered were reported to Miscavige, along with my conclusions. They were as follows: Bryan Zwan had made unrealistic and unattainable demands upon Denise concerning production and delivery of the diagnostic devices. Denise had given Zwan embellished and hopeful reports – which Zwan plainly understood to be embellished and hopeful – concerning production and delivery.  Nevertheless, Zwan reported to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on deliveries that had not in fact occurred. 
 
   As one can imagine, the communication was complicated, complex and labyrinthine. But, one thing was quite clear, both Zwan and Miscavige Gentile had, with a wink and nod, conspired to drive up Digital Lightwave’s stock value by unethical and unlawful means. The net result was that when all facts were aired, from both divergent viewpoints, Digital Lightwave and Zwan were provably guilty of federal securities fraud violations.
 
   In response, David Miscavige ordered me to keep his sister and Brian Zwan from going to battle publicly. If they were to do so, all the damning facts would wind up in the public record, and Zwan, Miscavige Gentile and their “Scientology” company would likely be prosecuted.  More important to David Miscavige was the fact that such a prosecution could sully his name by association.
 
   The only way to keep Miscavige Gentile quiet was to convince Zwan to provide her with a severance package generous enough to keep her out of personal financial trouble.  This was a difficult task because Miscavige Gentile wanted so much money that the amount itself would serve as evidence that Zwan had approved of her actions. This conflicted with Zwan’s motivation for paying her off in the first place. His intent in paying her was to keep her silent while he created a picture of plausible deniability of his knowledge that the reports he had received and forwarded to the SEC were false.  If he paid her too much, it would be seen as a reward for what he intended to position as rogue production facility activity. It was quite clear that if push came to shove, Zwan’s most viable defense was to throw Miscavige Gentile under the bus. Denise was aware of this but nonetheless drove a hard bargain, demanding as much severance money as she could possibly get. And so I struggled with these two to find a price acceptable to both. David Miscavige directed, through me, each of the several days of these negotiations.
 
   We hired counsel – an SEC specialist from a satellite office of a major D.C. white-shoe firm the church had retained for decades – to represent Denise.  Zwan had his own battery of high-priced lawyers, which he could well afford with the millions he had won by manipulating the stock market value of his company.
 
   For more than a year the SEC aggressively pursued the matter. Zwan testified in his own defense at a sworn deposition. When Denise received the transcript she went ballistic. Zwan had not just implied Denise was at fault and that he had been in the dark about the falsity of the delivery reports, he had asserted so with certainty. Denise threatened to spill all the beans and make Zwan pay with jail time. By that point the SEC was attempting to arrange Denise’s sworn deposition through her counsel.
 
   When I briefed David Miscavige on this in detail, his instructions were simple and emphatic: Lose Denise.  
 
   I met with Denise in a Clearwater hotel room so as not to be recorded by the SEC or FBI, in the event that her phone or premises were wired. Miscavige had emphatically expressed concern that his sister was capable of becoming a government informant, just to spite her own twin brother. I convinced Denise to move to another state, leaving no trace behind, so that the SEC could not serve her with the subpoena we knew they had in the works. It took many meetings and necessarily cryptic phone calls to exact compliance with Denise’s brother’s dictate, but I finally succeeded.  
 
   Then another bump in the road appeared. A reporter at the Saint Petersburg Times was conducting an in-depth investigation of the matter. A big exposé coming out at that point could blow the lid off two years of careful cover-up. The reporter was hot on the Miscavige connection in the case. Miscavige ordered me to fix it, and to do so by engaging in perhaps the most blatant demonstration of deceit imaginable. The guy who knew better than anyone in the world the guilt of the parties involved, the micro-managing nature of David Miscavige’s connection to the affair, and the ongoing cover-up efforts – yours truly – went in to convince the reporter that (a) there had been no crime, and (b) if there had been, David Miscavige had neither knowledge of it nor connection with it. 
 
   While the news story that finally emerged was damning, and made mention of Miscavige’s sister’s involvement, there was no smoking gun disclosed, and ironically it marked the end of the scandal, to a degree. Zwan wound up walking scot free, paid a couple of million dollars to rid himself of the primary whistleblower, and went on to make a lot more money with further clever schemes.  
 
   The postscript and the moral of this story are as follows. 
 
   A year later, I attended an annual public-relations event at the Flag ballroom. Such events were used to win over local politicians by allowing them to rub elbows with Scientologist celebrities such as John Travolta, Greta Van Susteren, and musicians such as Isaac Hayes and Chick Corea. I sat with Miscavige at his VIP table, accompanied by my then-wife Anne. Anne held a position at Flag as final arbiter of whether a parishioner’s level of ethics was sufficient to be granted the privilege of progressing to one of the highest levels of Scientology spiritual attainment, known as OT 7 (Operating Thetan Level 7, “thetan” meaning spirit in Scientology).  Anne answered directly to me as Inspector General of Scientology. (My permanent offices were located at international headquarters near Hemet, California.)   Miscavige was in a good mood that evening, occasionally leaning over to whisper to me of his delight at seeing an A-list celebrity mingle with a particularly important (and suitably giddy) local politician. Miscavige could be very charming and pleasant when everything seemed to be going his way (read De Niro as Al Capone in The Untouchables).
 
   At the end of the event, my wife and I were in the large ballroom foyer, standing beside Miscavige as he grabbed and grinned with prominent Scientologists and local dignitaries as they departed. Miscavige looked like a proud and pleased bantam rooster, nattily attired in his custom-made $5,000 suit. He looked as if nothing could interrupt his contented cockiness.
 
   Then, to my surprise, Brian Zwan exited the auditorium. He was impeccably attired in a designer tuxedo. He had his beautiful wife on his arm, wearing a stunning ball gown. He confidently strode toward Miscavige.
 
   “Sir!” Zwan cheerfully addressed Miscavige.
 
   “Hi Brian,” Miscavige replied.
 
   “Sir, I wanted you to be the first to know – I just put down five million dollars on the new Flag Mecca building.” (also known as the Super Power building)
 
   Miscavige put on his best sincere politician act, shoving his hand toward Zwan’s and clasping it firmly with the other. He looked Zwan intensely in the eye and gave him a strong, “Well done, Brian.”
 
   “Thank you, Sir,” Brian beamed. 
 
   “Are you being treated well by Flag?” Miscavige asked. 
 
   Brian blushed slightly, looked at Anne embarrassedly and told Miscavige, “Actually, Sir, I’ve had a little trouble getting on to OT 7.”  
 
   Miscavige did his best impression of a coyly perplexed Tom Cruise, jutting out his jaw and looking sidewise at Ann as if she were in trouble.   Miscavige well knew that I had previously ordered Anne not to allow Zwan onto OT 7 because his series of felonies committed in the Digital Lightwave affair; but his expression told me he had decided, given the five million dollar windfall, to feign ignorance. Then, in a nanosecond, he turned the charm back on and looked at Brian knowingly. “Don’t worry; I’m sure it will all work out.”
 
    “Yes, Sir, I am sure it will.”
 
   Miscavige reached out both hands and shook Zwan’s hand once again, saying, “Again, well done Brian.”
 
   Brian took the cue and exited with his wife.
 
   The second Zwan was out of earshot, Miscavige turned violently on his heel to confront Anne. His eyes narrowed and he hit her right between the eyes with the force of his voice: “You make sure he gets on OT 7, NOW!” As was his habit, he pointed at me while still in Ann’s face. “This SP [suppressive person] right here wants to stop EVERYBODY from going up the Bridge [the gradient route up to and through OT 7].” 
 
   With that, Miscavige, eyes and neck veins bulging and face cherry red, stomped off in a seething ball of pent-up anger.
 
   As Miscavige fled, Anne meekly replied into thin, empty air, “Yes, Sir.”
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER FIVE:  INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SCIENTOLOGISTS
 
    
 
   Immediate necessity makes many things convenient, which if continued would grow into oppressions.   – Thomas Paine
 
    
 
   Look about you and see who is afforded the most respect in the Scientology community. Who is granted the greatest deference and privileges by the church? Why? Is it because of their accomplishments as auditors? Is it even associated with the lofty levels of the Bridge they have attained? Or does their IAS (International Association of Scientologists) status carry more weight than their Scientology auditing, training and dissemination accomplishments?  
 
   Now, consider this: L. Ron Hubbard never wrote a single word on the subject of the IAS. Ron never suggested its formation. Ron was never informed of its formation. He never authorized its formation.  Go ahead and look up “memberships” in the index of the Organization Executive Course volumes (OEC, LRH organizational policy). You will not find a single mention of IAS. Why? Because the very idea of it was anathema to everything L. Ron Hubbard stood for, and its very existence is contrary to his long-standing policies. Go ahead and read every one of Ron’s membership policies you can find. You will learn that LRH established these policies for any church membership:
 
   …Anyone can have an International Annual Membership providing they are for us and not members of groups seeking to harm mankind.  The cost is 10 British pounds sterling or $30 US…
 
   …Anyone can have one, of any race, color or creed. They need only sign a sworn statement to abide by Scientology codes and that they are not a member of a group hostile to mankind or Scientology…
 
   …There is no grade, certificate or classification qualification for any membership. One must only swear to abide by and uphold the codes of Scientology including the Auditor’s Code, the Code of a Scientologist and any other code of Scientology, and that one is not now a member of a group hostile to Scientology or mankind.   – LRH Policy Letter of 22 March, 1965
 
   As to being given special pins, medals, plaques and trophies bestowing all manner of privilege and status in return for huge sums of money, here is the only thing LRH had to say on the matter in policy:
 
   …Wherever possible, make it easy for persons to obtain and wear Scientology pins, the S and double triangle. Such a pin as available should be given new members. Pins should be purchasable for a small sum along with books in the Reception office.   – LRH Policy Letter of 1 September, 1965
 
   So where does the incessant pressure to raise your membership status come from?  Where do statuses come from, costing from thousands of dollars up to tens of millions of dollars? Where does the policy come from that specifies that high-status membership contributors get preferred seating at events, preference and priority at the Flag Service Org (Flag, the Scientology mecca) and the Freewinds (the only service organization that delivers OT 8 – the highest level of spiritual attainment discovered by L. Ron Hubbard)? How does a shadow organization with no responsibility obtain the power to order org staff to treat you like a criminal for refusing to give them every last dime you have, and then some?   
 
   And most importantly, how can all of the above occur when L. Ron Hubbard promised you that all expenses for all Scientology organizational needs – including all of his own needs, when he was alive – come from one place and one place alone, the donations Scientologists give in exchange for auditing and training? 
 
   Services have always been delivered for a set fee in Scientology organizations. During the lifetime of L. Ron Hubbard, those fixed fees were far more affordable than they have become during the second, Miscavige, generation of Scientology. Nonetheless, there was always concern on the part of Scientology parishioners about the affordability of traversing the Bridge to freedom. 
 
   In 1970 LRH addressed those concerns by publishing an article for The Auditor magazine – which was then the monthly journal for Scientologists. The article was entitled What Your Fees Buy.  Ron had the article re-published many times over the years, in a variety of church publications. In the article, Mr. Hubbard informs the public that he would rather not charge anything for Scientology services, but the cost of providing services makes that impossible. He outlines how fees for Scientology services fund the entire operation of Scientology organizations, from premises, to staff pay, to broad dissemination of material, to legal and defense. He summed it up in this one line:
 
   Your fee keeps the nearest org alive and functioning and the environment safe.
 
   Mr. Hubbard emphasizes throughout the article that the latter half of that equation, creation of a safe environment, most definitely includes all external-facing functions, including legal and defense.   
 
   So what about the International Association of Scientologists (IAS)? It was created in 1984 to solve a big problem. At that time, the church was defending itself against a few dozen multi-million-dollar lawsuits. The IRS had calculated a tax bill against the mother church that exceeded all of its reserves and assets by about four times. Legal costs ran between one and two million dollars per month. The church was on the verge of possible dissolution. And to top it off, Ron had retired to his ranch outside of San Luis Obispo, California, to wrap up the final affairs of his illustrious lifetime. The IAS was a bright idea cooked up by corporate staff and outside lawyers. Create a fund, outside of U.S. jurisdiction, that could continue to accumulate monies in order to either ultimately pay off the IRS tax bill, or to set up a new management organization in the event that Scientology organizations in the U.S. went under financially.   The idea was to create an international membership for a nominal fee, in keeping with the LRH policies cited above.
 
   Shortly after this membership’s formation, the idea of an additional “Patron” status was implemented, in order to more rapidly create a fund for a worst-case scenario with the IRS. As an appeal to fears and patriotism, the fund was dubbed the “war chest.” It never wound up funding the fighting of a single skirmish, let alone a battle or a war. 
 
   By the late ’80s the church had settled all outstanding civil litigation in the United States. Still the IRS problem loomed. For the next five years the IAS became more organized, and IASA (International Association of Scientologists Administrations – the organization that solicits and banks IAS donations) expanded into a massive fund-raising organization. During those years the IASA created a rapidly growing “war chest.”  Ironically, not one thin dime of that money was spent on battling the IRS. The fees for services of church parishioners fully funded the church’s efforts, just as LRH had promised. 
 
   IAS funds continued to accumulate for purposes of paying off whatever the final tax bill from the IRS might be.  IASA dreamt up new, higher statuses of membership, cleverly marketing the benefits of such statuses.  IASA used extreme pressure and scare tactics to raise even more money. By the early ’90s, so over-the-top were its methods that IASA fundraising abuses became the number-two legal and public-relations threat to Scientology internationally, second only to the IRS threat. 
 
   Around that time, a tipping point was hit where IAS began to create more potential liabilities than it was able to raise money to pay for.  It became a race against time. Which would occur first? The settlement with the IRS, at which point the entire purpose of the IAS would be fulfilled, and it could be retired without creating more liabilities? Or would the continued crushing of Scientology parishioners for dollars, meant to make an IRS settlement possible, create the need to deplete the “war chest” to defend against fallout from the aggressive fund-raising? Meanwhile, management implemented a number of service price increases, to help pay the costs of dealing with the mounting flaps created by the IASA. That’s right: in the end, the IAS did not even pay for its own crimes. The parishioners did – quite separately to their IAS donations, when they were hit with what amounted to taxes, hidden within price rises for services. 
 
   It became so absurd that IASA fundraisers used flaps such as government raids in Spain and France – flaps which had been created by hyper-intense IASA fundraising – to scare public Scientologists into putting even more money into the war chest. Of course, IASA never let the public in on the fact that it had created the attacks in the first place. The charges behind those raids included fraud, invasion of privacy, and theft based on the fundraising tactics of IASA representatives. 
 
   Fortunately, after an 11-year battle and a lot of blood, sweat and tears shed by many dedicated staff and parishioners, all outstanding debts were settled with the IRS. That settlement included the recognition of Scientology churches as religious, charitable, tax-exempt entities. The total bill was twelve million dollars. Twelve million dollars represented less than ten percent of what had been accumulated in the IAS “war chest.” 
 
   Those of us who were in the trenches during the IRS struggle and were responsible for Scientology’s future defense breathed a heavy sigh of relief. We had beaten the clock. We had settled with the IRS for a fraction of what had been raised in order to do so. We could dissolve the IAS, settle out all of the damage it had created with its voracious fundraising, and get on with the business of delivering Scientology. And we could make Scientology services available at drastically reduced rates, since our efforts had made the church impervious to future tax and litigation threats. 
 
   Unfortunately, David Miscavige, who by then had established unquestioned control over all of international Scientology management, had other ideas. 
 
   In October of 1993, David Miscavige announced to all Scientologists that “the war is over” at a gala event at the Los Angeles Sports Arena. However, in the course of that three-hour marathon event, Miscavige carefully embedded what would, 20 years later, prove to be the seeds of Scientology Inc.’s destruction. He sprinkled his speech with a number of references to the “heroic” efforts of the IAS, positioning the institution as integral to the winning of the war.  In fact, IAS had been nothing more than an expensive impediment. 
 
   Miscavige snatched control of the IASA from the Chairman of the Watchdog Committee (WDC – highest ecclesiastical management body of the church, as established by L. Ron Hubbard), Marc Yager. Yager had managed the IAS into what it had become over the previous nine years. But now that Miscavige had total control and no longer had the threat of the IRS breathing down his neck, he rewrote history. He claimed he was the one responsible for having raised the nearly two hundred million dollars IAS had by then accumulated. For the next several years he often used the figures in the “war chest” as a whip to invalidate church management and demand that they make as much money directly from donations for services in Scientology organizations as he allegedly had with IASA. He also forbade them from rewarding the parishioners who had made the “war chest” possible by lowering prices for services. In fact, prices were steadily increased in order to meet Miscavige’s impossible target that legitimate management make as much money as he claimed to have done with the “war chest.”   
 
   Management was given an impossible task. By then, IAS fundraisers had far outstripped Field Staff Members (FSM) in terms of commissions for their work. Eighty percent of the highest-paid Scientology fundraisers were those who worked for IASA. Some were making more than a quarter million dollars a year on commissions alone. More and more of Scientology’s great field disseminators, who had earned decent livings from FSM commissions by introducing people to Scientology, and assisting them to move up the Bridge, were abandoning that activity for the more lucrative business of being IASA fundraisers. 
 
   The situation was exacerbated by Miscavige’s total control over all Scientology promotional publications, and the six annual international management events held each year. Miscavige held all the most important communication lines to Scientology parishioners. After the IRS war was over, rather than gearing international management promotion and communication toward dissemination and delivery of services, he geared it more toward frightening Scientologists about the “dangerous environment,” giving greater and greater importance to IAS donations to expand the “war chest.”     
 
   Miscavige threw more and more LRH policy out the window to pursue his pet project of accumulating a billion-dollar IAS reserve fund. That included LRH Policy Letter 18 February, 1966, which listed four actions “that have not been effective in handling attacks… 4. Advertising the attack to the Scientology ‘field’.”  L. Ron Hubbard had followed that policy during his lifetime. He had been confronted with attacks that made the ones we faced look like walks in the park, by comparison. Yet he never put the problem on the plates of public Scientologists, and never once even considered going cap-in-hand, asking them to bail him and the organizations out.  Instead, he treated attacks dismissively and with insouciance, when he mentioned them at all to Scientologists at large.  Increasingly, under Miscavige’s watch, Scientology public became more serious, stirred up, upset, zealous and combative, having been validated and rewarded by Miscavige for complying with his newly-imposed warrior-like ethic within Scientology.   
 
   Over time, Marc Yager – who, unlike Miscavige, had been appointed to his post (Watchdog Committee Chairman) by L. Ron Hubbard – recognized what was happening to the church. In the late ’90s Marc presented Miscavige with a formal, well-researched evaluation. The evaluation demonstrated, using statistics and balance sheets, that the IAS and its scare tactics were subverting and replacing the purpose of Scientology organizations. IASA had been given so much prominence and power that Scientology organizations were becoming the opposite of the islands of calm and succor Mr. Hubbard had envisioned and had created so much policy to bring into being. 
 
   With parishioner dollars increasingly being diverted to “war” rather than to delivery, Scientology organizations were losing so much money that they could not hold on to their existing staff – let alone recruit and train more. Starting in 1990, when Miscavige achieved complete, unquestioned control of Scientology Inc., international statistics went into a long, steady decline. Marc cited this continuing downward trend in his evaluation and correctly – with intelligent use of LRH evaluation technology – demonstrated that the “why” behind the decline was the IASA’s rise to prominence and power. 
 
   The declining statistical trend has never reverted. Scientology, according to cold, hard statistics - and irrespective of what people have been implanted to believe at the frequent, lengthy and overwhelming Scientology Inc. events - has been dying a slow death since 1990.  
 
   Miscavige did four things in response to Yager’s evaluation. 
 
   First, he tore up the evaluation and forbade its publication. 
 
   Second, he held a briefing to the several hundred international headquarters staff and executives, spending more than two hours implanting them with the false idea that Marc Yager was a suppressive person (sociopath), fully culpable for the quite-evident decline of Scientology organizations’ production over the preceding ten years. 
 
   Third, Yager was deposited in a hard-labor camp for several months, for degradation and behavior modification. 
 
    As ruthless and destructive as his first three reactions were, his fourth – while more subtle and clever – was by far the most destructive in terms of the future of Scientology. Miscavige began increasingly positioning IAS as a “dissemination” fund. Miscavige mandated that in events and in Scientology publications, IAS was to be given credit for all manner of activities it had done nothing whatsoever to forward or support. Some of this sort of propaganda had already been seen in the late ’80s and ’90s. This had occurred during Yager’s tenure as WDC Chairman, and as the original manager of the IASA in the ’80s when there was a chance the fruits of IAS fundraising would actually be needed.  But by the late 90’s, having pushed Yager out of the way, Miscavige made a bold move, pouring the coals on the deceit. The IAS was positioned in events and promotional magazines as the most important activity in the church.
 
   In fact, the IASA was and always has been nothing more than a collection of all-powerful, glorified fundraisers and expert, aggressive managers of fundraisers. They have never produced anything of value. Headquartered at the church’s most sacred religious service facility, the motor vessel Freewinds, the IASA was expanded into a major network, with field offices on every continent. It supported dozens of full-time fundraisers who made literally millions of dollars in commissions. 
 
   The IASA has never had any function beyond spreading lies about alleged Scientology “enemies,”  spreading more lies about how IAS was conquering them, falsely inflating and promoting the activities of alleged IAS-funded activities, and demanding ever greater funding to support more such activities. The vaunted IAS Freedom Medal ceremony – and the excessive, embellished promotion of the invented feats of its winners – has absolutely nothing to do with any actual production activity by the IAS.    
 
   As an example, we will use Tom Cruise – the only winner of what David Miscavige called the IAS Freedom Medal of Valor. As Inspector General RTC, I personally briefed and directed Tom on every single Scientology promotional action he took – the actions which served as the basis for his medal award.  As of the time he was chosen to win the award, Tom Cruise had never spoken to, nor even met, one single IASA staff member. Not one.  Yet how much money do you think was raised in the name of supporting the IAS, which had allegedly made possible everything Tom was supposed to have done? A hundred million dollars?  Two hundred million dollars?  More?   
 
   The same goes for virtually every other IAS Freedom Medal Award. None of the winners’ activities were funded by IAS. In fact, candidates for the IAS award are culled and selected by church management. The president of IASA and a small entourage of IASA public relations staff come to the international base a couple of times a year, for a few weeks each time. The first trip consists of pestering international management staff and executives for potential award candidates. First, a search through data files is done to find a batch of Scientologists who are involved in effective or interesting activities, or things that lend themselves to lots of visual effects so they can be made to appear heroic or impressive. IASA or Golden Era Productions representatives then visit each of the candidates, provide them with video cameras and instruct them to get lots of good footage of their activities. The IASA folks return to their offices aboard the Freewinds, to do nothing but manage ever-increasing demands for public donations to the IAS. 
 
   Once video footage arrives from the potential medal winners, IASA works exclusively with Golden Era Productions representatives, sending out crews to put together audio-visual footage galore, depicting the top candidates in action. IASA reps then return to the international headquarters base to pester international management for video scripts that will glorify the vaunted IAS medal winners. They then work with Golden Era in putting together these videos. 
 
   Miscavige is the final editor – but long before a video reaches the final editing stage, he micromanages every presentation. This process goes on for weeks, with continual demands that the presentations be made more and more impressive-looking. This includes endless fiddling with and altering the videos’ narration to exaggerate, and even outright lie about, the medal winners’ alleged exploits. In order to save themselves from imprisonment, expulsion or worse, Golden Era Productions staff members have institutionalized the practice of creating staged video footage for inclusion in medal-winner videos. While filming in the medal-winners’ locales, they literally hire extras, paying them to pretend, on film, that the chosen IAS medal winner is reaching them with Scientology. 
 
   Into the 2000s, with protestations such as my own, Yager’s and other WDC members’ out of the way, Miscavige elevated IASA to a status senior to every other Scientology body in the world, including all of those making up international management. IASA President Janet McLaughlin answered to no one but Miscavige. She had an unlimited expense account and a healthy salary. She jaunted around the globe, taking particular pleasure in shopping sprees at Harrods in London and Saks Fifth Avenue in New York City.  Often she was accompanied by Miscavige’s personal, non-Scientologist attorney Monique Yingling, who is paid more than a million dollars a year by Miscavige with Scientology parishioner donations. Miscavige not only countenanced this lifestyle, he promoted it and created a lifestyle of his own which, as we shall see later, made Janet seem like a denizen of a Calcutta ghetto. IASA was empowered to, and did, countermand all organization Executive Directors, up to and beyond the Executive Director International, commandeering organization staffs around the world to do the bidding of the IASA and expedite its fund-raising activities.   Executive Directors of the most productive Organizations and Missions (witness Lucy James Birmingham Org, Dani Lemberger Haifa Mission) managed to remain productive, for a time, by banning IASA fundraisers from their churches.  But, Lucy and Dani and any other executive remaining defiant and resolute against IAS destruction of Scientology delivery were excommunicated at Miscavige’s order. 
 
   The Flag Service Organization (the mecca of Scientology, where its highest levels of training are exclusively delivered) was ordered to require that parishioners purchase a specific IAS membership level or status before being allowed to enroll on OT 7. This requirement amounted to a $50,000 tax, quite in addition to the exorbitant cost for the service itself – a service meant to be the parishioner’s next step on the stairway to spiritual freedom.  
 
   Ethics Department personnel at the mecca and in all other churches of Scientology were directed and empowered to require purchase of higher levels of IAS membership status (which could cost thousands or even millions of dollars), first as acceptable amends for serious transgressions against church ethics codes, and finally as required amends for parishioners sent to visit Ethics Officers for whatever reason.  
 
   Finally, in 2007, McLaughlin herself saw that IASA, its falsely elevated importance and its unethical, crush-sell fundraising tactics were decimating Scientology service organizations around the world. She expressed to Miscavige her disagreements with the international destruction of Scientology service delivery. In response, Miscavige had McLaughlin surveilled, kidnapped and physically forced into several months of captivity and behavior modification at international headquarters. When her morale and strength were defeated, she was put onto a lowly secretarial task. Her husband Colm was physically separated from her by force and held prisoner aboard the Freewinds for four years. Miscavige’s agents worked hard to break Colm’s will, but were ultimately unsuccessful. He persisted, managed to reunite with Janet, and the couple left the Sea Org.  To assure they would not speak out from the outside, Miscavige reportedly paid Janet six figures in order to make a concurrently signed non-disclosure agreement more enforceable. In recent years Miscavige has paid out at least a dozen such bonuses, aimed at silencing departing Sea Org staff who he calculates to know too much about him and his crimes against L. Ron Hubbard and Scientology.  Those include WDC for WISE (World Institute of Scientology Enterprises) Greg Hughes, Books Executive International Debbie Hughes, Angie Blankenship (Miscavige’s personal programs operator/WDC for Ideal Organizations), Tommy Davis (Scientology Inc. spokesman and Tom Cruise personal servant), Bob Wright (Ideal Organization Construction Chief), and others.  
 
   In the meantime, Miscavige’s “war chest” has accumulated nearly two billion dollars – all offshore, out of the reach of tax authorities or civil lawsuits; all at his fingertips, to spend in whatever ways he sees fit. While many have witnessed Miscavige taking long, luxury vacations paid for with IAS funds, and being lavished with expensive gifts from IASA for years, nobody but Miscavige knows the ultimate intended disposition of those funds.  Over the past 20 years, next to none of that fortune has actually been disbursed for the activities he publically states it funds. Only since I and others have blown the whistle on this financial swindle, which has left Scientology organizations both bankrupt and bereft of parishioners, has Miscavige begun to spend token amounts of the fund on his “Ideal Orgs” (organizations) project. Of course, he uses even that public-relations ploy to further the fraud, by prominently advertising his “ideal” orgs as “IAS sponsored.”   
 
   The importance and prominence stage-managed by Miscavige for the IAS has begun to substitute this fund-raising institution for legitimate delivery organizations entirely. In the process, Miscavige is attempting to supplant Founder L. Ron Hubbard, his very technology and the goals for its application. Hubbard envisioned and created Scientology service organizations and their application of technology as the vehicles by which the planet could be cleared – made into a far, far saner, safer, happier place to live.   
 
   The materials of Scientology, originated by L. Ron Hubbard, are chock-full of the simple formula for clearing the planet. Every one of those LRH references is consistent with these few examples:
 
   Where we are at this instant in time is at the reverse point of the universe. You are the one who will make it happen.  And you will do it by selling and delivering materials and service to the public you get in and keeping the orgs there so they can and will do it. You have the tech now, you have the policy. It is you who are applying it. And by applying it, you have it in your power to reverse the dwindling spiral that has gone on without pause for more years than you can get into an Earth calculator. For the first time ever you have this chance.  And it is you who, just by knowing and using relentlessly the policy and tech, will make it happen.   – LRH Policy, The Reason for Orgs, 31 January, 1983
 
   An org is an auditing factory and also trains people to audit.  That’s the basic way we will win the world – auditing.   – LRH Executive Directive, How to Raise Stats, 20 December, 1969
 
   So the ogre which might eat us up is not the government or the High Priests. It’s our possible failure to retain and practice our technology.   – LRH Policy, KEEPING SCIENTOLOGY WORKING, 7 February, 1965
 
   The simple point is made over and over again in Scientology technical materials and policy: that the purpose of Scientology and its organizations is to clear the planet by getting the technology applied through service organizations. Period. Ron stressed this simple objective repeatedly, and even placed in the basic job description of every staff member this reminder on how to stay focused upon that simplicity:
 
   When in doubt do the usual, the routine, the standard… Like auditing a pc*. Every shortcut, every unusual solution, just makes the pc worse.  You can’t go on with unusual solutions forever.  The pc will collapse… The usual solution already exists.   – LRH Policy, The Usual, 31 July, 1971 
 
   *“pc” is short for “pre-clear” – a person undergoing auditing in order to achieve a state of spiritual awareness known in Scientology as “clear.”
 
    
 
   By the summer of 2012, Miscavige had directly changed all that. In September, he directed the IAS to promote his New Order vision with the following quotation, directly and violently countermanding everything that L. Ron Hubbard had spent his life in building:
 
   YOU DON’T CLEAR A PLANET WITH “BUSINESS AS USUAL.” RATHER, YOU DO IT WITH A DASH OF THE DARING. YOU DO IT WITH A TOUCH OF DEFIANCE. YOU DO IT WITH UNPARALLELED PASSION. AND, ABOVE ALL, YOU DO IT WITH A WHOLEHEARTED AND PHENOMENAL COMMITMENT TO THE IAS.   – From closing speech by David Miscavige, FREEWINDS Maiden Voyage Anniversary Celebration, 2012
 
   Miscavige’s “unparalleled passion, defiance, and wholehearted commitment to the IAS” are bringing every Scientologist to a most critical fork in the road. That fork offers two possible directions, and poses this question to every Scientologist: “Do I go with L. Ron Hubbard, or do I go with David Miscavige?” 
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER SIX:  IDEAL ORGS OR IDLE MORGUES?
 
    
 
   We shape our buildings; thereafter they shape us.    – Winston Churchill
 
    
 
   In 1517, when Martin Luther tacked his 95 theses to the door of the Catholic church in Wittenberg, Germany, he reckoned he might spark an interesting debate. He was surprised to learn that his relatively obscure gesture had hit a nerve so broadly shared that it kicked off a revolution in thought which would transform the entire Western world. What was that common nerve? Christians throughout Europe were being heavily pressured by Vatican representatives to build the mecca for Catholicism, Saint Peter’s Cathedral. Virtually all Europeans were affected. It would be the grandest statement by the papacy in history, an architectural marvel so awe-inspiring that it would overwhelm rank-and-file Catholics into continuing to toe the line and to contribute substantial portions of their earnings to the pope. And every European was being taxed, either directly or indirectly, by the unprecedented drive for the building fund. Sound familiar? Ever been hit up to donate to the Super Power building (the advertised new mecca of Scientology)?   
 
   In August, 1993, the church of Scientology represented in writing to the Internal Revenue Service that it was currently attempting to raise $40 million for the Super Power building and a 2,500-seat auditorium.   Nineteen years later the church has collected upwards of 200 million dollars for the two buildings. At this writing, in September 2012, the Super Power building has been under construction for 14 years and is still not open. Ground has even yet to be broken on the auditorium. Why do you suppose Miscavige can’t get a building built and opened after 14 years of construction and nearly 20 of fundraising?  Why do you suppose he cannot even get the plans done for the promised auditorium during that same period of time? These questions might be most accurately answered with a rhetorical question: Why complete the process when it is an endless source of “donations?” That gives you one hundred and sixty million reasons why the Super Power building has not been completed. There is one reason for every dollar Miscavige has collected for the project, above the original estimated price. And still the Super Power fundraisers press on for more, unabated.
 
   But the Super Power building is only a fraction of the problem. It seems that aside from the relentless IAS fundraising, Scientology Inc. is engaged in little else than still more fundraising, for what Miscavige has called the “Ideal Org” program.  It apparently is the ‘solution’ for the annihilation of organizations Miscavige achieved through the IAS fundraising abuses covered in the last chapter.  
 
   It is the height of cynicism to call mere buildings – no matter how gorgeous – “Ideal Orgs.” Ron coined the term in LRH Executive Directive #102, issued on 21 May, 1970 and later converted into a Policy Letter. Nowhere in that directive or policy does he mention anything about an ideal org having a building comparable to the ostentatious, posh cathedrals Miscavige is having built. Virtually the only thing Ron mentions about buildings or materiel in the Policy Letter Ideal Orgs is this: 
 
   It would be clean and attractive enough not to repel its public. 
 
   Nowhere does Mr. Hubbard prescribe intensive fundraising to, presto-change-o, bestow a slick, state-of-the-times fashion statement of a building on org staff. Quite the contrary, he prescribes the following as the formula for creating a true ideal org:
 
   Such an ideal org would be built by taking what one has and step by step building and smoothing; grooving in and handling each of its functions, with each of its divisions doing more and more of its full job better and better. 
 
   Vast numbers of Scientology Policy Letters in the ten-volume set called the OEC (Organization Executive Course) spell out precisely how an ideal Scientology organization is built. None of those policies call for pressuring Scientologists for contributions, above and beyond those they make for Scientology services, to build big, fancy buildings. Quite the reverse, Mr. Hubbard’s entire organizational philosophy condemns the idea of building something to then occupy. Rather, Ron’s policy calls for neat, modest quarters sufficient for delivering to the people an org can reasonably be expected to serve, careful management of its staff and resources, and expansion of quarters only when warranted by increased production and legitimately-earned income.  
 
   L. Ron Hubbard could not have been more clearly opposed to David Miscavige’s brand of building management when he lectured as follows in his talk, The Genus of Dianetics and Scientology:
 
   We own a tremendous amount of property. We own a tremendous amount of material, and so forth. And it keeps growing. But that's not important. When buildings get important to us, for God's sake, some of you born revolutionists, will you please blow up central headquarters. If someone had put some HE [high explosives] under the Vatican long ago, Catholicism might still be going. Don't get interested in real estate. Don't get interested in the masses of buildings, because that's not important.
 
   What is important is how much service you can give the world and how much you can get done and how much better you can make things. These are important things. These are all that are important. A bank account never measured the worth of a man. His ability to help measured his worth and that's all. A bank account can assist one to help but where it ceases to do that it becomes useless.   – L. Ron Hubbard, 31 December, 1960 lecture, The Genus of Dianetics and Scientology
 
   Think about this – and particularly the statement, “When buildings get important to us, for God's sake, some of you born revolutionists, will you please blow up central headquarters” –  when you next pick up a church publication that boasts of, or you hear Miscavige bloviating about, the new statistics of “number of square feet of newly constructed or renovated building space.” For the past eight years, nothing has held more importance in Scientology Inc., as reflected in its events and publications, than its hard-driven emphasis on fundraising for upgraded buildings.  
 
   Miscavige and Scientology Inc. disdain Ron’s words quoted above. Even though they have packaged and promoted and sold that very lecture as a classic for years, reaping great profits on its sales.    
 
   But that is not the only place Ron has made his views on this subject clear. A simple search in the policy volumes for Mr. Hubbard’s ideas would net you the following, from Policy Letter Quarters – Policy Regarding, 23 December, 1970: 
 
   THE FIRST CONSIDERATION IN PROCURING QUARTERS IS THE VIABILITY OF THE ORG… CONCLUSION: Viability of economics must not exceed the income of the org. 
 
   Ron doesn’t say, “When the viability of economics of a proposed building exceeds the org, go ahead and throw policy out the window and stick up your public for millions so you can buy them a mansion.” He says don’t buy something the org hasn’t been built up to warrant, and hasn’t demonstrated it can have, maintain and utilize efficiently. 
 
   Visit any of Miscavige’s “ideal orgs” and note their dwindling staff numbers.  Why are staff members leaving in droves, so soon after having been all dressed up and presented at the magnificent grand opening events? From Dallas to New York, to San Jose, to London, to Madrid, to Hamburg – you name it – “Ideal Orgs” cannot even afford the heating and cooling costs for the cavernous cathedrals they have been thrown into and made responsible to maintain. Thus, the orgs cannot even afford to pay their own staff.   In any event, those few staff left hanging on don’t have time to service any public who might show up for training or processing, because it takes most of their effort just to keep Miscavige’s posh new quarters clean.
 
   You might hear building fundraisers claim that there is all sorts of good PR (public relations) to be had from a new, big building. Much church promotion boasts of it. Again, L. Ron Hubbard would beg to differ: “Image is a secondary consideration…” “Staff pay and food and cheap student housing do more for an org than a posh building.” (Policy Letter, Quarters, Policy Regarding)  Take a look.  Lousy staff pay, no food, and no student housing (let alone cheap) are the order of the day for Miscavige’s “Ideal Orgs.”  
 
   Don’t take my word for it.  But for God’s sake don’t take Scientology Inc.’s word for it either. Instead, take Ron’s word for it. Put your nose into the Org Executive Course policy volumes.  Look up “quarters.” Look up how to build a Scientology org. Nowhere will you find L. Ron Hubbard advising (a) big, fancy, posh quarters or (b) direct fundraising activities that ask the public to pay anything above and beyond what they give for usual org services. And then take your own word for it. Go out and look with your own two eyes. Is your local “Ideal Org” overflowing with Scientology public?  Is it really an Ideal Org? Or is it more like an idle morgue?
 
   During Martin Luther’s time, Pope Leo X made new cathedral fundraising the Catholic Church’s number-one priority. Much like the Super Power building, his signature priority – Saint Peter’s Cathedral – was crawling forward by fits and starts. The official word from the Vatican was that the problem lay in a lack of dedication by Christians in sufficiently funding the project. However, it was later documented and revealed that in fact many multiples of the money required to complete the project had been collected (something much like $200 million being collected for the 40-million-dollar Super Power project).  What the world did not know then, but learned later, was shocking. Pope Leo X was squandering the money collected for the building projects.  He and his inner circle lived in the lap of degraded luxury. They maintained expensive vacation estates, ate sumptuous, expensive meals, drank the finest wine and engaged in the most lewd entertainments imaginable. These included presenting Leo X with a birthday cake from which sprang several naked little boys. 
 
   Now, you may be thinking, “Here is where the analogy to the Reformation diverges from the actions of David Miscavige.” Read the next chapter before you settle on that way of thinking.
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER SEVEN:  WHAT YOUR FEES BUY
 
    
 
    We frown on money-motivation like a thundercloud.   –  L. Ron Hubbard
 
    
 
   With unlimited dollars at his fingertips, what does Miscavige do with all the money?
 
   The last time David Miscavige was required to publicly disclose his salary was during the IRS negotiations that led to the church’s 1993 tax-exempt recognition.  The years 1989 through 1991 were required to be reported. Public records demonstrate that between him and his wife Shelly, the Miscaviges took home an average of more than one hundred thousand dollars a year. With reporting requirements extinguished by tax exemption, the lofty figures that his salary continued to climb to are known only to the Miscaviges and their cadre of white-collar criminal lawyers. 
 
   While we can’t say how much money he has salted away in overseas accounts, or buried in the form of precious metals, we can understand a bit about the order of magnitude of his wealth by examining what we do know about the cost of his lifestyle, which is funded by church of Scientology parishioner donations.
 
   Let us begin at the feet of pope David Miscavige. He has his shoes hand-made by John Lobb of London.  Lobb is the Queen of England’s shoemaker.  On many occasions I, Mike Rinder and others have witnessed Miscavige visit Lobb’s shop in London to have every contour of his feet meticulously measured. This is done so that when the Lobbs go to work on the several-month process of custom-making Miscavige’s shoes, they will fit like the finest of leather gloves.
 
   Miscavige regularly receives foot massages from a chiropractor who is on 24/7/365 call. Massages are administered any time Miscavige perceives the slightest tinge of discomfort. While he is at it, the chiropractor massages every square inch of Miscavige’s diminutive body using special, herbalized organic oils. This chiropractor travels around the world with Miscavige, all at the expense of the church of Scientology.
 
   Miscavige also travels with a five-star French chef who prepares every one of Miscavige’s meals, using only the finest and most expensive foods available. In preparation for each mealtime, the chef ordinarily prepares three complete meals, in case Miscavige is displeased with one or another of the offerings.  The most expensive Japanese sushi is rushed to the international base near Hemet, California when Miscavige is in the mood. This extravagance too is paid for with church of Scientology parishioner donations.
 
   Miscavige is one of the top customers of Mr. Richard Limm of High Society, Los Angeles’ most sought-after tailor to the stars. Mr. Limm comes to the international Scientology base regularly to measure every dimension of Miscavige’s body, every time Miscavige gains or loses a few pounds. Mr. Limm must do so, because David Miscavige will not be seen in public unless he is attired in the most expensive of clothes, tailored to perfection. Each of Miscavige’s suits cost a minimum of $5,000 – and he possesses dozens of them. 
 
   Miscavige’s exclusive Hollywood hairdresser is transported to the international base regularly, to ensure his head is kept freshly trimmed. This same hairdresser also travels around the world as part of Miscavige’s regular entourage. All of this is paid for by the donations of church of Scientology parishioners.
 
   Miscavige’s personal living compound, within the larger international base complex, cost more than two million to construct and outfit. It includes a full-service, state-of-the-art exercise room, with sufficient space and equipment to work out the entire Los Angeles Lakers professional basketball team. But the Lakers are not allowed in Miscavige’s gym, and neither is anyone else but his best friend, Tom Cruise. These facilities were paid for with the donations of church of Scientology parishioners.  
 
   Miscavige’s personal working quarters cover 55,000 square feet. They feature custom stained and cut glass, metal and glass walls, the finest Italian marble floors, hand-made custom furniture and fixtures, and expensive artwork. Miscavige had huge portions of this building constructed, then demolished and re-built until every detail finally suited his personal standards and tastes. Aside from his personal staff, no more than a dozen church of Scientology managers have ever been permitted to occupy side offices here, off in a small, out-of-the-way area of the palace. Church of Scientology parishioners footed the bill, estimated at upwards of seventy-five million (75,000,000) dollars. 
 
   Miscavige’s second-largest single personal extravagance began with his ordered destruction of the last home that L. Ron Hubbard had built to his own specifications. This was the last home where L. Ron Hubbard spent time with his wife, daughters and son; the last place L. Ron Hubbard called home. Ron named this home, located at the international headquarters base and overlooking the Hemet Valley, Bonnie View. It was a modest, one-story, three-bedroom affair. Ron directed base staff on how to customize the place so it would best facilitate his family life and work.  When they completed the utilitarian renovations, the staff who followed his advice and instructions were ready to present him with their final product. However, that presentation was never to take place. Mr. Hubbard did not return to the base as he had planned, and passed away before he could even pay a visit to the new Bonnie View.
 
   I know first-hand how Ron lived and worked. One of my first jobs as a new Sea Organization member in 1978 was to renovate his home and working quarters in La Quinta, California. This too was a relatively modest, single-story home. One of its bedrooms was fashioned into an office for Ron. An adjoining room was made an administrative center for the vast volume of communications he handled in any given day. His bedroom was a small guest cottage in the back. Otherwise, the home was just like one any middle-class family might own, anywhere in America. He worked at that La Quinta locale for three years, before moving to a middle-class apartment, outfitted similarly to the La Quinta home, for another two years. For the final four years of his life, he lived and worked in a customized bus. L. Ron Hubbard practiced what he preached when it came to finance and materiel. What he preached on those subjects is well covered in Volume Three (Treasury) of the OEC Scientology organization policy set.   
 
   After Mr. Hubbard’s death, David Miscavige ordered that a sprawling, two-story mansion be built on the site of the razed Bonnie View.  The palace could not have been more at odds with L. Ron Hubbard’s intentions, his policy, or the example he set by his life.  But, apparently Miscavige wished to build a monument that would rewrite history in order to justify his own life-of-the-rich-and-famous lifestyle.  Some have estimated its total cost at $40 million. I saw the balance sheets when construction was still under way, and they showed expenditures in excess of $20 million – and the house was not even close to completion. Miscavige built a multi-level stone mansion to house Mr. Hubbard’s personal effects. He justified the action by calling it a museum.  However, not even the staff of the international headquarters are allowed to visit it – let alone the public Scientologists who have paid for it with their donations, and certainly not the public at large. The only function the home serves is as a lavish setting for Miscavige’s corps of personal chefs and stewards to present dazzling meals to Miscavige and his personal friends. Aside from Tom Cruise, those close friends include the high-priced criminal and tax lawyers who are paid with church funds to sample Miscavige’s culinary wonders. What is more, Miscavige spent several million dollars of church funds on the add-ons to the mansion grounds, all of which he uses as a personal playground.
 
   First, there is the “guest cottage.” This two-bedroom dwelling is fit for a king. The one and only person who is permitted to stay there – and who regularly does – is the person David Miscavige is most obsessed with pleasing and impressing: his best friend Tom Cruise. Then there is the adjoining movie theater, outfitted with top-of-the-line everything, from luxury reclining chairs to projection equipment, to sound systems, to adornments.  Again, the only ones permitted into the “L. Ron Hubbard Private Theater” are David Miscavige and his personal guests. When Tom Cruise visits, Miscavige dresses his young, attractive office staff and stewards in tailor-made, tight-fitting, 1940s-vintage theater staff uniforms. They bow and scrape to Cruise and Miscavige, catering to their every refreshment whim before they can even think to ask for them. Finally, there is the “L. Ron Hubbard Shooting Range,” which only Miscavige and Cruise use to fire their assortment of high-powered rifles, shotguns and pistols.  
 
   When in Los Angeles, Miscavige works out of the offices of Author Services Inc. (ASI, L. Ron Hubbard’s personal literary agency and services organization, which has been converted into a church public relations and fund-raising arm since his death). Because Miscavige is repelled by the squalid Sea Org staff and executive quarters near Vermont Avenue and Sunset Boulevard, he ordered that the entire apartment complex next door to the building housing ASI be purchased. Once the purchase was made, he had a number of apartments there renovated and outfitted with the best of the best audio-visually, artistically, and every-other-wise. He had a tunnel built from the ASI building to the apartment complex (known as the El Cadiz) so that Miscavige never has to show his face to the public at large, or subject himself to process servers or reporters. He has constructed a virtual modern-day, multi-million-dollar fortress for himself, right in the middle of Hollywood.
 
   Miscavige also has personal quarters – similarly outlandishly appointed – at his disposal at Flag in Clearwater, Florida, at Saint Hill Manor in England and on the motor vessel Freewinds, which sails the Caribbean Sea. Twice a year Miscavige uses the Freewinds as his base for several-day, luxury vacations.  He is regularly seen being picked up by spectacularly expensive catamarans, manned by the most exclusive professional diving guides, to sail off for his daily outings. By night, Miscavige routinely frequents the trendiest restaurants across the Caribbean. All paid for by church of Scientology parishioner donations. 
 
   Some time in the late ’90s, Miscavige ceased flying by commercial carrier. Since that time, he only travels by private jet. In most cases it is the personal jet of Tom Cruise, when Cruise is not using it himself. When this jet is not available, Tom’s personal staff arrange for a substitute luxury jet to accommodate Miscavige’s travel.   Church parishioner dollars fund each of these $20,000-average flights. 
 
   Miscavige regularly eats at some of the most expensive restaurants in Los Angeles, New York City, Washington, D.C., London, and the Caribbean. He insists that his office staff constantly update their research work, so as to keep track of the most exclusive restaurants – and he always finds time to frequent them.  Church parishioners unknowingly pick up each tab.
 
   Miscavige has several top-of-the-line luxury automobiles, ranging in value from $20,000 to nearly $100,000. He also has several expensive motorcycles. His $60,000 BMW sports sedan was purchased with parishioner donations, in a manner carefully engineered to evade taxation. Miscavige had his staff inform the executives of Author Services Inc that Miscavige had wished for a particularly rare model of the “ultimate driving machine.” They were told to make it happen, and ASI executives were instructed by Miscavige’s personal finance people on how to do so. ASI paid inflated, unearned bonuses to its staff over a several-week period. The staff then turned around and effectively laundered this slush money, “contributing” it to a gift fund for Miscavige. When the required $60,000 had been accumulated, ASI executives purchased the car and delivered it to a pleased-as-punch David Miscavige as a “gift.” 
 
   Similarly, when Miscavige wished for an $85,000 Viper custom hand-made Italian motorcycle, so as to keep up with his best buddy Tom Cruise, the mecca (Flag) was called into service by Miscavige’s personal staff. Flag’s then-chief executive, Debbie Cook Baumgarten, protested that what had been done at ASI was simply not feasible at Flag, since each of its several hundred staff received only $50 per week in cash compensation. Miscavige’s staff threatened Cook into compliance. For months, Miscavige representatives stood at Flag’s staff pay line and exacted a substantial percentage of each person’s pay as it was handed out. When the required amount had been involuntarily seized, the $85,000 motorcycle was ordered, constructed and delivered to a beaming David Miscavige.
 
   For months leading up to every Christmas and every David Miscavige birthday, all Sea Organization management unit personnel sacrifice large portions of their meager pay to the “COB gift fund.” And when Miscavige’s birthday and Christmas roll around, Miscavige is lavished with dozens of expensive gifts from these units. Several staff work tirelessly year round to make sure every last, whimsical material desire on Miscavige’s wish list is procured and delivered to him by this method. 
 
   Compare David Miscavige’s birthday game with that played by L. Ron Hubbard during his lifetime:
 
   Birthday games began long ago when someone said, “What would like from management for your next birthday?” Now, you’ve all heard such questions. The normal answer is “a tie,”or maybe, “a chocolate cake.” Well, I surprised them. I said, “5X the stats!”   – L. Ron Hubbard, LRH Executive Directive #339R, 13 March, 1982
 
   Compare the facts shared in this chapter to the glimpse of L. Ron Hubbard’s lifestyle I have related.  Compare these facts to church treasury and finance policies in the OEC. Compare these facts to L. Ron Hubbard’s essay, What Your Fees Buy:
 
   I know that Dianetic and Scientology services should be free and I wish they were. Personally I have tried to do my part in this. None of the researches of Dianetics and Scientology were ever actually paid for out of organizational fees. With my typewriter I paid for the research myself. Occasionally orgs were supposed to but they never did…
 
   … A Sea Org member draws only about four pounds a week and his room and board. We run our ships and stations at a cost that would make a cost accountant disbelieve it. So not much of your fee goes to them even though they bear a full burden of management of pure services.
 
   Org staff members over the world work for so little that Execs occasionally get letters from their landladies demanding orgs increase their pay level so staff members can pay their rent. So not much of your fees goes to them.
 
   Occasionally some org or franchise goes on a big kick of high pay. We very soon pull the rug out from under that. So if your fee went that way for a brief period we corrected the outness fast, as we frown on money-motivation like a thundercloud.
 
   Like a thundercloud, indeed.
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER EIGHT:  THE GATES OF HELL
 
    
 
   Hell has three gates: lust, anger and greed.   – The Bhagavad Gita
 
    
 
   Some still caught in the throes of denial may be saying to themselves, “But still, to compare Miscavige to Pope Leo X? After all, Miscavige isn’t having naked little boys jump out of his birthday cake!”
 
   If you harbored such a thought, you would be correct on one score. We have no reports of naked little boys jumping out of birthday cakes for David Miscavige. But, fact being sometimes far stranger than fiction, we have reports of far more degraded, cruel and outlandish depredations, regularly practiced by Miscavige on Scientology parishioners’ dimes and dollars. 
 
   Around 2002, already a narcissistic personality, David Miscavige went beyond the point of no return. After I had spent more than two years recovering Tom Cruise to the Scientology Bridge, auditing him for dozens of hours, indoctrinating his children to choose him over their mother (his former wife), auditing and guiding him through the entirety of OT V, OT VI, and onto OT VII (three of the highest levels of Scientology spiritual advancement), Miscavige became impatient. He wanted Tom’s affections and would stop at nothing to receive them. 
 
   Miscavige forbade me from letting Tom get on with his life as a free Scientologist.   Until such time as Tom “connected back up” with David Miscavige as a personal, cloying friend, I would be assigned to Tom Cruise full time. I was prohibited from telling Tom to call Dave; Tom had to come to the realization on his own that Dave deserved his gratitude and close friendship. Many of my after-session encounters with Tom ended up with this type of colloquy, with me attempting to steer him toward Miscavige:
 
   Tom would say, “God Marty, thanks, you saved my life.”
 
   “Don’t thank me. Thank Dave. He was the one that put me onto this full time. For me, auditing is fun. He is the one that has to handle all the rough parts of my post while I’m here with you.”
 
   “Yeah, I’m gonna have to call him one day.”
 
   After many such conversations, Cruise finally asked me for Dave’s number. He called Miscavige and was invited to the 500-acre Scientology headquarters near Hemet, California. The entire several-hundred-person headquarters crew was called into action to prepare. Every square inch of the property, inside and out, was cleaned, spic and span, to military white-glove standards. Exotic foods were flown in from around the country to satisfy the five-star, around-the-clock service Tom would receive, all compliments of Dave. 
 
   Cruise became a regular visitor, put up in the special multi-million-dollar L. Ron Hubbard guest house.  Miscavige lavished Cruise with praise, gifts and slave-labor services of every imaginable kind, all clearly compliments of Dave. Miscavige began regularly visiting the Cruise home in Beverly Hills. While there, noticing upgrades that could be made, Miscavige dispatched slave-wage Sea Org craftsmen to execute modifications to Tom’s home, all designed to bedazzle him. Tom’s personal bus was upgraded, as was his personal SUV.  
 
   Miscavige plied Cruise with bizarre, but apparently believable (at least to Cruise), world-views, allegedly supported by his hidden, insider, unwritten knowledge of L. Ron Hubbard. Miscavige convinced Cruise that he and Tom were two of only a handful of truly “big beings” on the planet.  He instructed Cruise that LRH was relying upon them to unite with the few others of their ilk on earth to make it on to “Target Two” – some unspecified galactic locale where they would meet up with Hubbard in the afterlife. Miscavige cleverly tailored the myths to parallel Tom’s ego, which already had him half believing he really was the superhero he portrayed in the movies and in his public life. Miscavige informed Cruise that Hubbard considered most of the inhabitants of Earth to be “degraded beings.” He created an inside-secrets-of-the-universe world for Tom, which was sort of an Ayn-Rand-on-steroids, social-Darwinism construct of the few lonely, strong beings, held down by the pathetic weaklings who were crippled by such degraded notions as compassion and sympathy.  Degraded beings gravitated toward, clung to, and parasitized the minority big beings. Most big beings, because they were unaware of Hubbard’s technology, ultimately were dragged down to the level of the riff-raff degraded beings. But Tom and Dave, being intelligent and perceptive enough to recognize Scientology as the only road to total freedom, were in a league of their own. High above the rest of the lonely minority of big beings on the planet. Tom took to Miscavige’s mythology like a hungry dog to a bone.  He became increasingly zealous, and more and more loyal to David Miscavige.  
 
   Miscavige was transformed. He had achieved the cherry on the cake of the man who had everything. He now had the undying loyalty of the world’s biggest movie star. He relished living the high life, traveling only in Cruise’s private jet, attending world premieres as the guru to America’s biggest star. Miscavige’s mythology was so effective in controlling Cruise, and Tom’s return of validation back to Dave for being his big-being mentor were so gratifying that Miscavige began believing his own creation.  
 
   As much as Miscavige’s head swelled in the Tom Cruise inner circle, he became more and more detached and individuated from the Sea Org members of international management who had built the empire he was profiting from. They slaved on in squalid communal quarters, working long hours with no time off and next to no pay. That was not good enough for Miscavige, though. Apparently, he needed to prove his own degraded-being mythology to himself. Miscavige needed to prove to himself that the world view he had painted to lure in Tom Cruise was truth. He set out to prove just how pervasive the degraded-being phenomena was. And he set out to make those surrounding him as degraded and dangerous to a big being as were those he’d described while explaining “the facts of life” to Tom.
 
   In January 2004, Miscavige locked 80-plus members of international Scientology management into their small working quarters. He required they stay there 24/7, engaging in Maoist group confession sessions. They were not allowed to leave. Food was brought in, in troughs, a couple of times a day. These former managers were forced to sleep on the floor each night. Miscavige physically beat managers such as international spokesman Mike Rinder, Executive Director International Guillaume Lesevre, Watchdog Committee Chairman Marc Yager and others, in the full view of their fellows. Why? As punishment, when the “admissions” forced from them in group-confession sessions were not sufficiently lurid and evil-sounding to suit his paranoid fantasies. 
 
   “Tell them the real truth, you piece of shit!” he screamed as he held Marc Yager on a conference table, choking him. “Tell them how you want to destroy me because you are jealous of me because I am a big being and you are a degraded being.” Yager responded through a half-collapsed windpipe, “Yes Sir!  I want to kill you because I’m a degraded being.”   
 
   Only then did Miscavige release his grip on Yager’s throat and turn to the others in the room: “You see that? I’m the only one here who is capable of putting ethics in on anyone. That’s because you are a pack of degraded beings. Next time somebody hesitates to come clean, I better see him with black eyes from you guys, or you are fucked.”  With that, Miscavige stomped out of the room with his five-person entourage in tow.  
 
   Similar scenes played out often in that conference room, until the 80 staff were treating each other in like fashion. Because I did not, on my own initiative, take over the running of his torture chamber with ruthlessness matching his, Miscavige sentenced me to the prison, which he had appropriately named “The Hole.”  After four days, I escaped in the night on my motorcycle.
 
   Miscavige’s reaction to my escape was chilling. He ordered John Brousseau, his resident handyman – and the architect of most of the Tom Cruise vehicle and home upgrades – to install prison bars on all windows in the Hole so that no one else could escape.  
 
   With me out of the way, Miscavige’s madness was unbridled. He began to tell Tom Cruise tales of having to physically beat the degraded beings in his environment to keep them in line. Cruise followed suit, doing the same to his own staff. Michael Doven, his long-time personal assistant, started receiving regular physical abuse from Tom. Another of Tom’s staff – a woman – was grabbed and slammed up against a file cabinet by Cruise for failing to show him proper respect. He railed and screamed, like Miscavige, when he discovered a near-microscopic chip in a drinking glass handed to him by one of his staff. He was convinced the degraded beings were steadily sabotaging him, stalking him like the zombies from Night of the Living Dead. Tom even physically abused the one-time international spokesperson for Scientology, one Tommy Davis. 
 
   Miscavige was happy to have Tom ape his own psychotic behavior. He once briefed the inhabitants of the Hole that Tom was fully informed of their conspiracies to destroy Miscavige.  He told the assembled that Tom promised to come to the Hole to give Yager, Ray Mithoff (the highest scriptural authority in Scientology) and the former executor of Mr. Hubbard’s will, Norman Starkey, black eyes if their confessions were not to Dave’s liking. In order to prevent the world’s biggest star from having to do Dave’s dirty work, the leadership within the Hole decided they had better do it first. The eighty staff went into a frenzy of punching and kicking the trio, fattening the lips and blackening the eyes of all three. 
 
   By mid-to-late 2004 Tom was so locked in to Miscavige’s spell he was incapable of comfortable socialization with the outside world, at least on an intimate basis. He asked his best friend Dave to help him find a good-looking Scientologist wife, so he would not wind up with another degraded being like his previous two wives.  
 
   Miscavige executed an elaborate program to get Tom what he wanted. He sent a Golden Era Productions video crew to get screen tests of every Scientologist actress they could find, at the church’s Celebrity Center. The women thought they were testing for a Scientology training film. When Miscavige spotted a particularly cute woman in the screen tests (a 19-year-old woman by the name of Yolanda Pecoraro) he passed the test along to Tom for consideration. Tom approved the test, and so arrangements were made for Yolanda to fly with the 42-year-old actor to England, to be his date at a special Scientology event. Here Miscavige would award Tom with a special “medal of valor” (memorialized in a now-infamous, viral YouTube video). Tom cooled on Yolanda in less than three weeks, and rejected her. Her image was edited out of the original, official Scientology video of the event. 
 
   Even before Tom let Yolanda go, however, Miscavige was already back to the match-making drawing board, sending out a memo to all Church of Scientology Office of Special Affairs representatives, asking for the names of all young, attractive female Scientologists with clean ethics files. That is how he found his next potential candidate, the beautiful, 25-year-old Nazanin Boniadi. This time there were no screen tests or auditions. Nazanin was an aspiring physician, just having graduated with honors from the University of California at Irvine, which awarded her a Bachelor of Science degree in Biological Sciences.   
 
   Miscavige sent his then-deputy Greg Wilhere to brief Nazanin that she had been chosen for a special project of vast importance to the future of Scientology. Wilhere told her she would need to upgrade her image as she would be meeting with world dignitaries on the project. He told her that she would also need to dump her boyfriend of five years – whom she had introduced to Scientology – as it was felt he was not qualified to accompany Nazanin on this secret project. Nazanin refused, stating that she was very much in love and hoped to marry her boyfriend. 
 
   Wilhere asked her what it would take for her to break up the relationship. There was only one thing Nazanin could think of, which she told Wilhere. Later, Wilhere brought her into an office at the Celebrity Center. He pulled out her boyfriend’s counseling folder – a folder containing detailed notes on the life and confessed sins of a Scientologist receiving auditing. Wilhere showed Nazanin where an auditor had noted that her boyfriend had confessed to precisely that which Nazanin had stated would be the only thing that would cause her to end the relationship. Nazanin was hurt and confused. Knowing that the pope of Scientology was running this project and that it had vast implications for the future of humanity, she decided to break up with her boyfriend.
 
   Miscavige directed that Nazanin have orthodontic braces removed from her teeth eight months early, and the highlights in her hair removed, returning the hair to its natural color. He also ordered that she be taken to Beverly Hills to obtain a $20,000 wardrobe so she would look satisfactory for the task at hand. Next, Wilhere issued Nazanin the following threat: “Once you embark on this special project, you are committed until we say you are done. If you mess up in any way or refuse to follow through with it, you will be declared a Suppressive Person, expelled from the Church and disconnected from your mother and all your Scientologist friends.” He then made Nazanin sign a confidentiality agreement for the special project, even though she still had not been briefed on the details of what the project entailed.
 
   In early November 2004, Wilhere flew to New York with Nazanin to begin the secret project. Nazanin would soon “bump into” Tom Cruise at the New York church of Scientology. She had no clue that this chance encounter had actually been carefully orchestrated. Tom Cruise knew that it was. Greg Wilhere knew that it was. Tommy Davis (church staff member who by then was part of Cruise’s entourage, compliments of David Miscavige) knew that it was. And David Miscavige also knew that it was. It was an elaborate, carefully executed plot to make good on David Miscavige’s promise to deliver a Scientologist woman to Cruise – one who met his discriminating standards for a wife.
 
   Cruise had been briefed in advance that Nazanin’s ideal date, as disclosed in confidence during preparations for the project, was ice skating and sushi. So briefed, Tom Cruise treated Nazanin that night to a private ice-skating party at the Rockefeller Center Rink, which he had paid to have closed just for their use. The skating was followed by sushi at New York’s trendiest restaurant, Nobu. 
 
   At first, Wilhere acted as if this surprise encounter and Tom’s immediate cottoning to Nazanin would take priority over the “secret mission” for which she’d been selected. But after Nazanin lived with Cruise for a couple of weeks, the heights of Miscavige’s conceit apparently made him forget to inform Nazanin that the “secret project” had been cancelled. Nazanin began to suspect her encounter with Cruise was set up from the beginning.  She was so overwhelmed, though, by the affections of the number-one movie star in the world and the number-two Scientologist in the world, that she was afraid to create an upset. Her trepidation was exacerbated by the fact that she was constantly being coached by Tommy Davis and his then-wife Nadine, as well as Tommy’s future wife Jessica Feshbach, on how to act around Cruise. They were clearly working for the boss, David Miscavige, and the coaching was constantly reinforced with implications that her pleasing Tom Cruise was the most important thing in the world of Scientology.
 
   Ultimately, Cruise’s own behavior became so erratic that Nazanin had difficultly continuing to play the obedient wife-to-be.   
 
   One evening, while Miscavige and his wife Shelly were visiting Tom’s home in Telluride, Colorado, they watched a private screening of the Paul Haggis written, Oscar-winning movie, Million Dollar Baby. David Miscavige proclaimed extreme distaste for the movie, saying the content indicated that Paul Haggis, a Scientologist at the time, was a depraved person.
 
   “Yeah,” Tom piled on, “what is up with Haggis? Is he back on board?”
 
   Miscavige asserted, “No, that film was so low-toned and completely psych-oriented.”
 
   “Yeah,” Tom double-piled on, “he needs to get his ethics in.”
 
   During this same trip, Nazanin apparently “disrespected” Miscavige in front of Cruise, by seeking to clarify his trademark staccato comments a couple of times. This prompted Cruise to begin showing Nazanin his ugly, “big-being” side.
 
   Tom took her into his home office to give her a “reality adjustment” in front of Tommy Davis, who remained quiet the entire time.
 
   Sitting across from Tom at a wide table – like an employee set down for a tongue-lashing from the boss – Nazanin could hardly believe what she was hearing.
 
   Tom looked at her like a frustrated, overworked executive, let down by a degraded-being underling.
 
   Then he gave her the intense, laser-focus stare.
 
   “You don’t get it. It goes like this,” Tom explained.
 
   He raised his hand above his head, palm downward. “First, there is LRH.”
 
   Moving his hand down a couple of inches, he continued: “Then there is COB (David Miscavige).”
 
   He brought his hand down to his own hairline, highlighting the intensity and seriousness of his words:  “Then there is me.”
 
   Nazanin looked at him stoically, hiding her shock at Cruise’s performance of his best Jack Torrance – the psychotic killer played by Jack Nicholson in the film The Shining.
 
   “Dave and me, we’re big beings. We are surrounded by DB’s (degraded beings). DBs can’t help but try to destroy big beings. That’s just the way it is in this universe. You have to understand this. This is LRH, man. It’s the plight of the big being getting jumped on by all the degraded beings. You gotta be unreasonable to survive around a big being like me. You can’t be weak. You gotta be strong to protect the big being from all the degraded beings.” Cruise slammed his fist on the table, veins popping out of his neck from the intensity of his tirade.
 
   Apparently, Nazanin failed in her best efforts to pretend attentive interest. The relationship went south from there.
 
   Ultimately, the big being Tom Cruise was not big enough to muster the courage to tell Nazanin that she was being terminated from the secret project of finding him an acceptable wife. In the latter half of January, 2005, Tommy Davis and Jessica had to tell her to move out of Cruise’s house, sending her to Celebrity Center International in Hollywood. Nazanin’s home was visited by Davis; all gifts, writings and photos evidencing her two months with Tom Cruise were confiscated. She was forced to sign restrictive non-disclosure agreements – though she was never to receive copies of these documents. She was sent to Flag in February, 2005 for behavior modification. Distraught after her ordeal, she confided in a Scientologist “friend” that she had been in a relationship with Cruise. That “friend” immediately reported Nazanin to the ethics department. The result was a severe reprimand for Nazanin, subjection to a degrading perversion of Scientology auditing, and being forced to scrub public toilets with a toothbrush, scrub bathroom tiles with acid and dig ditches in the middle of the night. Eventually, she was “promoted” to selling Dianetics books on the streets, to get back into the good graces of the church. She only complied because she feared being disconnected from her Scientologist mother. Her punishment lasted more than three months. Tom and Dave were apparently out to prove the big-being/degraded-being mythology in the real world once again.
 
   Meanwhile, back at the international base, Miscavige continued sentencing prominent Scientologists to confinement in the Hole. Kurt Weiland, the Commanding Officer of Office of Special Affairs was sent. He was put into a room with the air conditioner running full blast, and was tied to a chair in the room’s center. There he was forced to confess the most hair-raising intentions toward Miscavige. When his confessions were not lurid enough to meet Miscavige’s twisted standards, he was doused with water until his skin turned blue and his body shivered uncontrollably.
 
   Heber Jentzsch, the long-time and once well-respected President of the church of Scientology was “holed” at some point circa 2005. Heber has been subjected to years of cruel, personal ridicule by Miscavige while being forced to suffer physical abuse. 
 
   Janet McLaughlin, mentioned earlier as the President of IASA, was holed in 2007. She was made to act as steward to the rest of the “holees,” and for months she was addressed as the lowliest of the Hole, all to break her spirit and make her feel degraded. 
 
   Mike Rinder, founding director of church of Scientology International, and a group of other veteran executives, were made to race around a room on their hands and bare knees. Each day, the scabs formed on day one were ripped open, and their blood marked their tracks. Mike carries the physical scars to this day to prove it.
 
   IAS Freedom Medal award winner and former Executive Director of the church’s entire social betterment network, Rena Weinberg, has been holed for more than six years.
 
   Debbie Cook Baumgarten, Captain of the mecca (Flag Service Organization) for 17 years, was holed in 2007. She nearly lost her life due to deprivation of her medically-prescribed diet. She was made to stand in a trash can for hours on end with a sign around her neck labeled “Lesbo,” because she stood up for a man being forced to confess to homosexuality. She was taunted, slapped and had water poured over her head, all while the 80-some others present complied with Miscavige’s demand to make her confess to homosexuality.
 
   The list goes on. All of the top names in the Scientology hierarchy over the past three decades, disappeared into the hole and were degraded to the sadistic gratification of David Miscavige.
 
   So perhaps the analogy to Pope Leo X is not apt after all.  As sick and degraded, and as much of a disgrace to all of the world’s Christians as Leo X was, David Miscavige does far greater disservice to Scientologists today. Leo X was, as all of us are to one degree or another, a product of his times. In a way, he was a typical example of medieval tyranny. David Miscavige has no such excuse. His activities would not be acceptable in any era, least of all the 21st century. 
 
    
 
   


 
   
  
 

CHAPTER NINE:  THE REFORMATION
 
    
 
   Reformation ends not in contemplation, but in action.   – George Gillespie
 
    
 
   According to L. Ron Hubbard:
 
   Unscrupulous and evil men and groups can usurp the power of government and use it to their own ends. Government organized and conducted solely for self-interested individuals and groups gives society a short life span. This imperils the survival of everyone in the land; it even imperils those who attempt it. History is full of such governmental deaths. Opposition to such governments usually just brings on more violence.
 
   But one can raise his voice in caution when such abuses are abroad. And one need not actively support such a government; doing nothing illegal, it is yet possible, by simply withdrawing one’s cooperation, to bring about an eventual reform. Even as this is being written, there are several governments in the world that are failing only because their people express their silent disagreement by simply not cooperating. These governments are at risk: any untimely wind of mischance could blow them over.
 
   LRH’s words reflect the philosophy of Henry David Thoreau, spelled out a little more than one hundred years earlier in his seminal essay, Civil Disobedience: 
 
   It is not a man’s duty as a matter of course, to devote himself to the eradications of any, even the most enormous wrong; he may still properly have other concerns to engage him; but it is his duty, at least, to wash his hands of it, and, if he gives it no thought longer, not to give it practically his support. If I devote myself to other pursuits and contemplations, I must first see, at least, that I do not pursue them sitting upon another man’s shoulders. I must get off him first, that he may pursue his contemplations too. 
 
   Sixty years ago Dr. Martin Luther King described the essence of how he helped stem a centuries-old, nationwide pattern of abuse, expanding on Thoreau’s message in Stride toward Freedom:
 
   Something began to say to me, ‘He who passively accepts evil is as much involved in it as he who helps to perpetrate it.  He who accepts evil without protesting against it is really cooperating with it.’  When oppressed people willingly accept their oppression they only serve to give the oppressor a convenient justification for his acts.  Often the oppressor goes along unaware of the evil involved in his oppression so long as the oppressed accepts it.  So in order to be true to one’s conscience and true to God, a righteous man has no alternative but to refuse to cooperate with an evil system.  This I felt was the nature of our action.  From this moment on I conceived of our movement as an act of massive non-cooperation. 
 
   As we have seen, David Miscavige is using the energy of Scientologists, in the form of their dollars, to actively oppress Scientologists. Without the continuing, active support of Scientologists, Miscavige would be powerless to perpetuate his abuses. 
 
   David Miscavige himself is acutely aware of the power that each and every Scientologist wields over him. In a 1998 interview with the St. Petersburg Times, he defined “power” as follows: “I'll tell you what power is. Power in my estimation is if people will listen to you. That’s it.”
 
   So the first thing to do is to cease following and contributing to the anti-Scientology oppressions of David Miscavige, as executed through Scientology Inc.  
 
   Some are initially unwilling to so withdraw support from the oppressor. They believe that if they do, they will have forsaken their religion and any chance of higher levels of awareness through application of Scientology. Those who think that way are simply misinformed. Virtually all Scientology technology – from the bottom of the Bridge to its highest reaches, is available outside of Scientology Inc.  There are dozens of independent practitioners of Scientology around the globe. There is a growing movement of Independent Scientologists. You can review a list of hundreds of them, along with their Scientology credentials by going online, visiting scientology-cult.com and clicking on the “Indie 500” link.  Virtually everyone on that list has attempted many remedies, aimed at making Scientology Inc. change its ways. Most have finally concluded that the best way to reform Scientology is to do as Ron said, and break the oppressive monopoly by going right ahead and applying Scientology in the manner they see fit. 
 
   Some have misunderstood the Protestant Reformation in attempting to draw analogies to present-day Scientology. They consider that “reformation” was used to refer to instituting reforms in the existing, established Christian church of those times. In fact, “reformation” referred to the reforming of the religion of Christianity, rather than to re-organization of the Catholic Church. Attempts by Luther and others to end Catholic Church oppression in the 1500s resulted only in retribution and punishment from the church’s Inquisition. Not surprisingly, that is precisely how Scientology Inc. reacts to any attempts to put ethics in on the organization. People are excommunicated and labeled as suppressive persons. If they continue to practice Scientology, no matter how much more standardly than Scientology’s Inc’s reverse-Scientology perversions of the original technology, they are labeled “squirrels,” the modern-day Scientology equivalent of heretics.   
 
   Christianity was reformed by making its scriptures available to any individual, to study and to practice in the way his or her own conscience and understanding saw fit. That reformation began with the recognition that no man or institution held a monopoly on the Bible and its teachings – least of all an institution that was just as corrupt, if not more so, as the civil, political and governmental bodies of the times. People had to be freed to follow the path of Christianity without the interpretation and control of a vested, morally bankrupt interest.  Ultimately, thousands of churches were created to facilitate that purpose. Like-minded people created hundreds of different denominations. Thus, Christianity was reformed and saved from the degradation a demented monopoly had inflicted upon it. Ultimately, that reformation caused the religion to flourish and serve as the backbone for the evolution of western civilization. 
 
   Luther’s first, trust-busting blow was delivered by tacking 95 enumerated, institutionalized abuses of the church to the door of his local church, so that they could be read and freely discussed. When this simple act resulted in Luther being branded as a heretic and targeted by the Inquisition, he refused to recant and made it his life’s work to make Christianity available to all, outside of the jealous monopoly which had nearly destroyed it as a faith. 
 
   Borrowing a page from Martin Luther’s reformation playbook, on July 1, 2009 I published the following Thirty-one Factors For Scientologists to Consider on my blog Moving On Up A Little Higher (at markrathbun.wordpress.com).  Steve Hall (operator of the popular site scientology-cult.com) and Mike Rinder (former international spokesperson for the church of Scientology) provided advice and editing assistance. These 31 factors affecting Scientologists serve as an anchor in defining the purpose of and the reason for what has become known as the Independent Scientology movement. 
 
   
  
 

 
 
   Thirty-One Factors for Scientologists to Consider 
 
    
 
   Scientology Founder L. Ron Hubbard discovered methodologies that can enhance self-determinism, increase freedom of choice, and bring about higher states of awareness and beingness to those who practice them. Hubbard developed a method of confession that includes unconditional forgiveness and results in more able, happy and peaceful beings. Hubbard developed an ethics system that an individual can apply to himself to improve his worth to himself and to his fellows. Hubbard established a form of organizational policy that is predicated on rewarding accomplishment rather than punishing failure. Hubbard set forth many of the fundamental values of Scientology and its organizations in the Creed of the Church of Scientology, The Code of a Scientologist, and the Credo of a True Group Member. Thirty-one factors have been discovered that threaten the continued viability of this vital subject.
 
    
 
   One
 
   Scientology has been taken over by a self-appointed dictator, David Miscavige, who has turned the Creed of the Church of Scientology, the Code of a Scientologist, and the Credo of a True Group Member on their heads and instituted the virtual practice of Reverse (Black) Dianetics.
 
    
 
   Two
 
   In his quest to attain power Miscavige forcibly removed no less than four Hubbard-appointed executives senior to himself, and dozens of Scientologists who had created scores of huge, effective Scientology centers. Miscavige used threat of force and violence in clearing the path to control of all Scientology organizations and assumed the self-created position of Chairman of the Board. He was never assigned by Hubbard and holds a position that was not created by Hubbard.
 
    
 
   Three
 
   Since securing his position of power, the statistics of Scientology have steadily decreased in spite of Miscavige's public proclamations to the contrary.
 
    
 
   Four
 
   Miscavige has conducted a campaign to fortify his personal power by denigrating and depowering anyone who personally knew and worked with Hubbard. That includes, but is not limited to, the members of Hubbard's family. The operation served to consolidate his personal power while immeasurably harming the vigor and image of Scientology.
 
    
 
   Five
 
   Miscavige accomplished his coup by commandeering the only line of communication to Hubbard during the last five years of his life, plying Hubbard with embellished and false reports of a dangerous environment to keep him out of communication with Sea Org members (Scientology’s priesthood) and his family. The reports falsely accused Hubbard's family and lifelong friends of selling out to the enemy and that Scientology organizations had been infiltrated by psychiatric and government interests. He prevented true reports from reaching Hubbard in order to make his actions appear necessary and on-policy and to solidify his position.
 
   
  
 

 
 
   Six
 
   Miscavige has persuaded those at the top of the Scientology organization that to disclose the secrets of his unconscionable acts would harm the religion and violate “the greatest good for the greatest number of dynamics.” Thus, the truth of what goes on behind the façade of false PR that Miscavige creates is hidden from the vast majority of Scientologists and the general public.
 
    
 
   Seven
 
   Miscavige uses confessions of Scientology managers to invalidate, castigate, and embarrass them into acquiescence and silence.
 
    
 
   Eight
 
   Sea Org members who voice or even hint at any hesitation to carrying on with his tyranny or supporting his actions, are routinely physically beaten by Miscavige.
 
    
 
   Nine
 
   Those Sea Org members who have attempted to correct Miscavige's off-policy and out-tech (scriptural perversion) actions have been subjected to belittlement, invalidation and false propaganda. They have been silenced through imprisonment and mental and physical duress.
 
    
 
   Ten
 
   Miscavige's abuse of Scientology executives and staff became so extreme and continuous, he resorted to locking all of the highest ecclesiastical officers of Scientology (CMO INT – Commodores Messenger Organization International) and IMEC (International Management Executive Committee) into a building, and called this prison “the Hole.”  Religious Technology Center (RTC), CMO/WDC (Watchdog Committee, Golden Era Productions (audio-visual arm of Scientology), IAS (International Association of Scientologists), CST (Church of Spiritual Technology), OSA Int (Office of Special Affairs, the dirty tricks and propaganda arm) and ASI (Hubbard’s personal publishing representatives) executives and staff have regularly been deposited in the Hole and subjected to Reverse Dianetics, including physical beatings and severe mental abuse for months or even years at a time.
 
    
 
   Eleven
 
   Miscavige has run a continuous propaganda campaign attempting to besmirch the good name of L. Ron Hubbard. He has consistently given little interest and funds for defending public relations attacks on Hubbard. Conversely, when Miscavige's abuses come under scrutiny by the media or on the Internet, Miscavige spares no money in attempting to destroy the reputations and lives of anyone with the temerity to discuss Miscavige's conduct. Miscavige's operations against “critics” include violations of the right to privacy, intimidation, investigations for perceived weaknesses and then ruthless exploitation of them, propaganda campaigns, interference with contractual and personal relations, black-bag jobs and blackmail. To exacerbate his atrocities, Miscavige justifies his conduct by pointing to some anachronistic Hubbard policy intended to deal with real attacks from the 1950s and ’60s. Thus, Miscavige perpetuates the notion Hubbard is somehow responsible for his (Miscavige’s) own crimes. He routinely cites alleged things Hubbard once said (in violation of the first policy letter every Scientologist reads when exploring the subject) to justify his brutality against executives and staff members.
 
    
 
   Twelve
 
   Miscavige has created a multi-hundred-million dollar slush fund called the IAS (International Association of Scientologists). For 25 years it has collected inestimable funds from Scientologists, under false pretenses. The IAS has used scare tactics to extract “donations” to “save” the church from attacks. Meanwhile, Miscavige prohibited IAS from disbursing funds to handle most of those attacks. On numerous occasions, Miscavige and IAS have given Scientology public the false impression IAS was spending tens of millions to sponsor “dissemination campaigns,” while in fact only funding a few ads for a very limited run, until the next campaign was devised. Conversely, the IAS has disbursed exorbitant amounts for Miscavige's personal vacations – including many Caribbean diving trips and a five-star tour of Scotland (including cases of sampled Scotch being shipped to Miscavige's residence afterward). When IAS executives balked at Miscavige’s actions, he feigned surprise about the extravagances and had President IAS escorted to the International Scientology Headquarters base, and locked her up in the Hole for behavior modification.
 
    
 
   Thirteen
 
   Miscavige has turned the top end of the Bridge to Freedom (the gradient path to spiritual enlightenment) into a dead end: First, he has programmed the Advanced Organizations, including the FSO, to regularly security check (confessional interrogations) pre-OTs (Operating Thetans, highest levels of spiritual attainment), and then use their confessions to coerce them into paying more money for atonement, a practice not unlike the Medieval Catholic Church selling indulgences. Second, he has imposed an unwritten code of behavior amongst OTs. They are regularly made to conform to correct dress, language, political thought, and even ideas as to how to use their personal time. Said practice is anathema to the very purpose of Scientology, which is to make a person more his- or herself, more insouciant and independent in thinking. Third, Miscavige has entered arbitrary “contribution as a Scientologist” requirements mid-levels which can be satisfied by making cash “donations.” Fourth, Miscavige requires pre-OTs to attend his regular propaganda events (see Factors 22 and 23) and are treated as ethics bait (criminals) until they enthusiastically embrace his projected public image. This enforced acceptance of falsehood makes attainment of OT technically impossible. Thus, Scientology, as practiced in Miscavige's organizations, is auditing (Scientology spiritual counseling) one toward conformity, solidity, and lies; in other words, down the tone scale (the scale of emotions), or, the precise opposite direction to the intended aim of auditing.
 
    
 
   Fourteen
 
   Miscavige's “Ideal Org” (ostentatious cathedrals) strategy has wasted hundreds of millions of dollars of Scientologists’ donations to forward an entirely off-policy action. Hubbard's Ideal Organization policy letter says nothing about building posh quarters. A plethora of Hubbard Policy condemns Miscavige's “straight up and vertical” method of building an org. Subsidies, particularly those extracted from the public under pressure, to build posh quarters are strictly forbidden by Hubbard policy. Hubbard advised that orgs be built from the bottom up by the elbow grease of local Scientologists, flanked by international management broad public promotion campaigns, growing their quarters only as they expand their delivery and income. Miscavige has hoodwinked Scientology public with the equivalent of a Ponzi scheme, shuttling staff around the world to pose at new “Ideal Org” openings for photo ops, many of whom are then shuttled off to some other org or soon leave for lack of pay. Regardless of the poshness of their quarters, Miscavige's orgs are doomed to failure (and the failures are legion) because Miscavige has for years forcibly prevented Scientology management from implementing L. Ron Hubbard advised pricing formulas to make Scientology affordable to working people, organization finance systems that encourage orgs to survive and expand, and staff pay systems that make it viable for upstats (productive people) to work on staff.
 
    
 
   Fifteen
 
   Miscavige's alteration of confessional (FPRD – False Purpose Rundown) technology to, in effect, cancel Hubbard's fundamental principle that a being can and does make undesirable mental mass and energy disappear by directed attention alone has caused innumerable Scientologists to regress on their paths to spiritual freedom. He has converted a powerful spiritual technology into a tool with which to enforce conformity.
 
    
 
   Sixteen
 
   Miscavige's use of the technology of handling suppression to impose suppression rather than to accomplish its original, opposite purpose, has suppressed countless Scientologists and divided many families.
 
    
 
   Seventeen
 
   Miscavige has perverted the practice of disconnection from a voluntary tool one may use to improve one's life into a mandatory control mechanism. He uses the practice to suppress the free flow of vital, truthful information and to keep individuals toeing the line through threat of losing their loved ones, rather than as a tool to depower actual suppression.
 
    
 
   Eighteen
 
   Miscavige's refusal to allow the entire International Base crew (including RTC, Watchdog Committee, CMO INT, Executive Strata and Golden Era Productions) to apply Ethics formulas (self-applied, self-improvement techniques of Scientology) to rise out of conditions he arbitrarily imposed is a Scientology High Crime. Miscavige has kept the international managers of Scientology in the lowest ethics conditions continuously for nearly two decades by imposing arbitrary requirements for upgrade nowhere covered in L. Ron Hubbard policy.
 
    
 
   Nineteen
 
   The practice of ordering divorces based solely on Miscavige’s opinion of the spouse, or the fact that he or she is in a different church organization than his or her spouse is antithetical to the concept that true survival can only be attained across all dynamics.
 
    
 
   Twenty
 
   Miscavige's arbitrary policy that makes conceiving a child a crime warranting offload from the Sea Org is contrary to Hubbard policy. It has also spawned a policy that has required countless women to obtain abortions.
 
    
 
   Twenty-one
 
   Miscavige's practice of verbally declaring Scientology staff members suppressive persons (excommunication) while leaving them on posts that affect international Scientology is suppressive to Scientology and Scientologists.
 
    
 
   Twenty-two
 
   Miscavige has co-opted Scientology’s multi-million dollar audio/visual production facility and its several hundred Golden Era Productions staff for the purpose of forwarding his own image and power through Scientology events. He has cross-ordered hundreds of Hubbard-advised dissemination films and marketing campaigns. This is done under the guise of the importance of international events, yet such events are proscribed by LRH policy. Millions of dollars are spent on these events in order to showcase Miscavige to further secure his power.
 
    
 
   Twenty-three
 
   Miscavige puts on international events that intentionally misrepresent the true state of Scientology. Statistics are manipulated and falsified, video scenes are created that are palmed off as reality and campaigns are routinely unveiled with great fanfare but exist only for the purpose of being announced at the event. The manipulation of truth is skilled and extensive and designed for the purpose of making Miscavige look good. Scientologists wonder at the incredible figures presented on the number of new people coming into Scientology every second, minute, day, week, year, or the incredible reach of people being contacted or the vast numbers of officials and Opinion Leaders who fully support Scientology – while their own local church organizations show no sign of this massive and unrelenting growth. Scientologists who retain enough sanity to spot the contrary facts must suppress such rational thoughts, for those who complain are subject to heavy ethics and, if they persist in expressing doubts, expulsion.
 
    
 
   Twenty-four
 
   Miscavige has cross-ordered production of the authorized LRH biography. The hired LRH Biographer, who has been paid hundreds of thousands of dollars, instead has worked almost exclusively for nearly two decades on writing speeches for Miscavige.
 
    
 
   Twenty-five
 
   It is policy to never use lies in PR. Yet Miscavige has repeatedly lied, and directed others to lie, when confronted with facts concerning his unethical, abusive behavior.
 
   
  
 

 
 
   Twenty-six
 
   Miscavige has personally enriched himself, living a far more lavish lifestyle than L. Ron Hubbard ever lived, though Hubbard had earned his fortune through his own writings. Miscavige has (by the standards of the Sea Organization) lavish living quarters in various cities, complete with chefs and maids, owns or is provided expensive cars and motorcycles, flies exclusively in private jets, has his hairdresser and chiropractor travel around the world with him, and receives compensation that is far, far in excess of any other person on Scientology staff.
 
    
 
   Twenty-seven
 
   Miscavige has enforced an unwritten policy within the Church that his word has become more important than the words of the Founder. Church staff routinely follow the dictates of Miscavige that are directly at odds with Hubbard policy. His utterances are recorded and transcribed and distributed to staff. He changes the technology of L. Ron Hubbard under the guise of “getting it on Source” and using hidden data lines about what Hubbard wanted. Miscavige has gradually established himself as the new Source. The biographer of L. Ron Hubbard was recently used to front for Miscavige to journalists who were investigating many of the abuses outlined in these factors. Under Miscavige's direct orders the biographer of Hubbard (who always eschewed the notion that he was anything other than a man) told the journalists that in his estimation Miscavige, and not Hubbard, “is a God.”
 
    
 
   Twenty-eight
 
   Many veteran Sea Org members have been RPF'd (sent to concentration camps), imprisoned in the Hole, beaten and declared (excommunicated) by Miscavige for having the temerity to object to Miscavige cross-ordering Hubbard policy.
 
    
 
   Twenty-nine
 
   Miscavige spent over seventy million dollars in Scientologists’ donations for an office building for himself and his personal support staff. Miscavige constantly altered orders for the building during construction, many times to upgrade material and finishes to the most expensive available, ordering the removal and destruction of what had been originally installed. Such profligate spending is contrary to countless finance policies of Hubbard, who was always extremely frugal in the spending of Church donations.
 
    
 
   Thirty
 
   Miscavige has created orgs that are the reverse of the islands of succor that Hubbard built during his life and directed be duplicated in his written policies. Prior to Miscavige's Scientology, orgs were lively, creative, safe spaces where people congregated to share their spiritual experiences. Orgs are now places to avoid for fear of falling victim to crush regging (heavy-handed financial contribution demands), heavy ethics and modification of behavior.
 
    
 
   Thirty-one
 
   Miscavige's out ethics (unethical conduct) has gone unchecked for so long that his behavior has become extremely depraved. In recent years he has directed the org that Hubbard formed to assure the ethical practice of the religion, RTC, to literally pimp and pander for his movie star friends. A number of women have been unwittingly lured into this scheme by being told they were working on a very important project to forward the aims of Scientology. In reality, Miscavige arranged dates with them for his personal friends. This activity was kept secret by violation of the integrity and security of Scientologists' confessionals, threats, intimidation, and the attempted division of families.
 
   Those who have attempted to put ethics in on Miscavige from within have been ruined personally by Miscavige. 
 
   Scientology is valuable to the many when studied and practiced in a sane environment. To allow it to be destroyed by the driven greed of a sociopath would be to condone a travesty. Scientology practiced in accordance with Hubbard's Code of a Scientologist, Credo of a True Group Member, and the Creed of the Church can contribute something vital to society.
 
   While Miscavige and his minions will no doubt claw, harass, and sue until the end to protect his fiefdom, it would well behoove all Scientologists to re-familiarize themselves with the Church's creed:
 
   We of the Church believe...
 
   That all men have inalienable rights to think freely, to talk freely, to write freely their own opinions and to counter or utter or write upon the opinions of others and, that no agency less than God has the power to suspend or set aside these rights, overtly or covertly.
 
   ___________
 
   Merriam-Webster’s dictionary defines the word “creed” as: a brief authoritative formula of religious belief.  The words quoted above constitute a critical part of L. Ron Hubbard’s authoritative formula of the religious beliefs of Scientology.  One should contemplate those words carefully against his or her experiences within Scientology Inc.  Ask yourself, am I living and following that creed? Are others around me doing so? Are staff members of Scientology organizations?     
 
   If you consider this honestly, I believe that you will find that it is no longer possible to follow the Creed of the church of Scientology within Scientology Inc.  In fact, there are no greater crimes in current Scientology Inc. management than to think freely, to talk freely, to write freely their own opinions and to counter or utter or write upon the opinions of others. Should one attempt to exercise these rights, which L. Ron Hubbard declared were inalienable, one will have the spiritual freeing processes of Scientology reversed by Scientology Inc., used to cripple one’s conscience to the point of agreeing with all that is issued and demanded by Scientology Inc., no matter how far those demands stray from and conflict with the philosophy of Scientology as promulgated by L. Ron Hubbard.
 
   If you want to learn more about responsible alternatives to supporting a morally corrupt, dying organization that is serving to destroy L. Ron Hubbard’s Scientology philosophy, I recommend you visit the following sites and study deeply of them:
 
   My blog: Moving On Up a Little Higher at markrathbun.wordpress.com
 
   iscientology.org, the voice of the Independent Scientology movement
 
   Steve Hall’s Independent resources central: freeandable.com
 
   Steve Hall’s news forum and archive: scientology-cult.com
 
    
 
   Namaste.
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